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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,
In Slovenia, the year 2012 was also marked by very diffi-
cult economic conditions, which continued to weigh on 
banks’ balance sheets. However, economic actors got 
used to such conditions, and a step forward was also 
banks’ restructuring of loans to promising clients.

For our bank, the most important event was the chan-
ged ownership of our owner Volksbank International 
AG (VBI) of Vienna (as from 1.11.2012 Sberbank Europe 
AG). On 15 February 2012, VBI (as from 1.11.2012 Sberbank 
Europe AG) finally became 100% owned by SBERBANK, 
the largest bank in the Russian Federation. Banka 
Volksbank (as from 28.1.2013 Sberbank banka) thus 
became part of the strongest banking group in the world 
in terms of capital.

Immediately after the takeover, we started with proces-
ses aimed at our integration in the Sberbank Group. We 
adapted our strategy to the strategy pursued by the new 
owner, and adopted a more active approach to financing 
of corporates and individuals, also thanks to our recapi-
talisation. In August 2012, we increased our capital by 
EUR 26.7 million, and transformed EUR 18.3 million of 
subordinated debt to equity. This strong capital base 

will also support our medium-term growth opportuni-
ties. In October 2012, fourth board member responsible 
for finance and operations, representing the ultimate 
owner, joined the board.

Performance in 2012:
We have already mentioned the very difficult economic 
conditions in Slovenia. As regards our bank, we dedi-
cated the first months of the year to harmonising and 
adjusting our strategy and internal processes to reflect 
the changed ownership.

In the second quarter, we focused on business growth 
and managed to grow our client portfolio each month. 
We were particularly successful in the corporate 
segment. By the end of the year we grew our assets by 
15.9% and our liabilities by 30% (excluding the funds pla-
ced by the Ministry of Finance). While our loan portfolio 
grew in the corporate segment and in the segment of 
micro companies, deposits grew both in the corporate 
and retail segments. In 2012, we also offered financing 
to micro companies within a programme developed 
together with the European Investment Fund. Balance 
sheet total grew by EUR 324.7 million or 32% to EUR 1.338 
billion as at year-end 2012.

Report of the  
Management Board

 Johann Staudigl, Gašpar Ogris-Martič, Aleš Zajc, Sergey Ludentsov (from left to right)
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The 2012 income statement does not reflect said growth 
in business in absolute terms. While total income rema-
ined at the previous year level (down by 0.3%), total 
administrative expenses increased by EUR 719,000 or 
7.4%. Half of this number is explained by the increa-
sed labour costs, as the bank started to strengthen its 
staff in the second half of the year in order to be able 
to implement the growth-oriented strategy. The main 
reason for the stagnation of income lies in net interest 
income which fell by EUR 1.94 million compared to 2011. 
This fall is explained by the record low Euribor on the 
one side and high interest rates offered on deposits in 
Slovenia on the other side. Growth in our loan portfolio 
recorded in the second half of the year compensated for 
this negative effect only partly.

The economic situation in Slovenia also explains why our 
net risk provisions rose to EUR 8.5 million, up by EUR 2.4 
million compared to the previous year.

Stagnating income (mainly due to the fall in Euribor) on 
the one side and higher credit risk-related impairments 
on the other side eventually caused a sharp drop in profit 
before tax, which was EUR 211 thousand.

Encouraging business growth has resulted in an incre-
ase in the number of employees. In 2012 the number 
of employees increased by 3%, thus also ensuring an 
appropriate organizational and staffing structure in the 
bank. In accordance with the growth of business we 
are planning on increasing the number of employees by 
roughly 15% in 2013. This is also the basis for adequate 
quality of our banking services offered on the market.

mag. Gašpar Ogris-Martič

Chairman

Aleš Zajc, MBA

Deputy Chairman

mag. Johann Staudigl

Member

Sergey Ludentsov, MBA

Member
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The bank in numbers 
(2008–2012)

2012201120102009

264 301

590
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405

2008

20122011201020092008

Loans to customers
million EUR

2012201120102009

12.6 11.9
14.3

12.3 13.6

2008

Operating expenses
million EUR

2012201120102009

19.1 17.7
22.921.8 23.1

2008

Operating income
million EUR

2012201120102009

0.0
0.5 0.2

4.0
3.3

2008

Total profit before tax
million EUR

Amounts owed to customers
million EUR

2012201120102009

866 904

1,338

936 1,013

2008

Total assets
million EUR

750 750
960

809 828
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In February 2012 former Volksbank International AG - 
now Sberbank Europe AG - was acquired by Sberbank 
of Russia. Sberbank is the largest bank in Russia that 
accounts for almost one third of all Russian banking sec-
tor assets. The Central Bank of the Russian Federation is 
the founder and major shareholder of Sberbank, owning 
50 % of the total share capital plus one voting share. 
Other shares are held by more than 245,000 individual 
and institutional investors in Russia and internationally. 
The Bank has the largest distribution network in Russia 
with over 18,000 offices as well as subsidiaries in 20 cou-
ntries including the CIS, Central and Eastern Europe. In 
September 2012, Sberbank completed the acquisition of 
DenizBank AS which is ranked 6th among private and 
9th among all Turkish banks by consolidated total assets. 
Sberbank was named by The Banker magazine as “Bank 
of the Year” and placed second in a ranking of company 
stock returns over the past ten years by The Economist. 

Sberbank Europe AG manages a banking network of nine 
universal banks in eight Central and Eastern European 
countries: Slovakia, Czech Republic, Hungary, Slovenia, 
Croatia, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Serbia, and the Ukraine. 

In total the bank operates 280 branches and has 4,400 
employees (as at 31.12.2012).

Sberbank is one of the most profitable financial insti-
tutions in the world and a leading market player in 
delivering innovative products based on excellence 
and state-of-the-art technology. Combined with the 
local expertise and customer focus of our employees, 
Sberbank Europe is building bridges to Eastern business 
and is a unique banking partner in the CEE region, Russia 
and CIS countries. 

Since the acquisition by Sberbank we have started a sig-
nificant transformation. As an important part of one of 
the largest, fastest growing, and dynamic banking orga-
nisations in the world – we at Sberbank Europe aspire to 
be recognised as a game-changing innovator, an emer-
ging leader in CEE banking with growing presence and 
recognition in Western Europe. We aim to build endu-
ring relationships with our customers by being attentive 
to their needs. As Sberbank Europe, we are striving to 
become a bank that never stops in further developing 
itself and its operations for the benefit of our customers.

International network

Slovakia

Czech Republic
Ukraine

Hungary
Austria

Slovenia
Croatia

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

Serbia
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Governing bodies as at 31 December 2012

Supervisory board

Chairman: Valentin Mihov (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna

Deputy Chairman: Gerhard Wöber (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna

Members:  David Vadnal (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna 
Jörg Langner (Sberbank Europe AG), Vienna 
Tatiana Boykova (Sberbank of Russia)

Audit Committee

Gerhard Wöber, Chairman
David Vadnal, Deputy Chairman
Reinhard Kaufmann, Independent Expert

Management Board

Gašpar Ogris-Martič, Chairman
Aleš Zajc, Deputy Chairman
Johann Staudigl, Member
Sergey Ludentsov, Member

GENERAL MEETING

SUPERVISORY BOARD

AUDIT COMMITTEE

MANAGEMENT BOARD Credit committee

Asset-liability 
committe

Liquidity committee

ORGANISATIONAL UNITS
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The Sberbank banka Group comprises Sberbank banka 
d.d. and its 100% owned subsidiary Privatinvest, d. o. o., 
Ljubljana, which has its head office at the same address 
as the bank. As at year-end 2012, the subsidiary’s balance 
sheet total was EUR 3,402,011.92, which represented 
less than 1% (0.25% to be exact) of the bank’s balance 
sheet total. The value of this equity investment was 
EUR 1,614,209.62.

The main activity of Privatinvest d. o. o. is acting as real 
estate agency/intermediary (activity code 70.310). The 
company’s directors are Mag. Igor Zalar and Mag. Johann 

Staudigl. Due to its insignificance for the financial posi-
tion of the Sberbank banka Group, Privatinvest d.o.o was 
excluded from consolidation in accordance with Article 56 
of the Companies Act (ZGD-1). Banka Slovenije was infor-
med of its exclusion from consolidation in accordance 
with Article 7 of the “Regulation on the supervision on a 
consolidated basis”. The bank also met the IAS 27 require-
ments regarding the exception from consolidation.

Privatinvest d.o.o. was consolidated by Sberbank Europe 
AG, which prepares its consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS.

Sberbank banka Group



Organisational structure
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BookingNote:

Responsibilies of each 
Management Board member 
are datailed in an annex to 
the Rules of Procedure of the 
Management Board.

The Internal Audit service is only 
organizationally subordinated 
to the Management Board 
president, as it actually reports 
to the entire Board.

The Compliance and Anty money 
laundering officers are only 
organizationally subordinated 
to the management Board 
president, as they actually report 
to the entire Board.

Sberbank banka d.d.

Department

Group within an OU, in which common tasks 
and responsibilities are completed

Dislocated OUs (branches agencies)
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In 2012, we witnessed a slight recovery in the global eco-
nomy. While global and US GDP growth was positive, 
EU gross domestic product decreased slightly. Prices of 
commodities grew and there were positive trends on 
stock markets. Slovenia’s slipping into a new crisis was 
worst-felt by the construction sector, financial holding 
companies and companies after management buyouts.

According to IMF, global growth in 2013 will be again 
quite modest. Its main drivers will remain the fast-
-growing, mainly Asian countries. However, the risk 
remains high that growth will be less than expected due 
to fiscal consolidation in the developed countries.

Short-term indicators of economic activity for November 
2012 confirm a continued euro area slowdown. In 
September 2012, the volume of industrial production 
in the euro area fell by 2.5% compared to August 2012, 
while production of intermediate goods fell by 4.0% 
compared to September 2011.

In 2012, the euro fell slightly against the US dollar (up by 
7.6% to 1.3194 USD for 1 EUR), the UK pound sterling (up 
by 5.25% to 0.8161 GBP for 1 EUR) and the Swiss franc (up 
by 3.2% to 1.2972 CHF for 1 EUR).

Key interest rates of the main central banks remained 
unchanged, only the ECB’s key interest rate decreased 
to 0.75%. At the end of December 2012, the three-month 
Euribor reached 0.187%, which was 0.938 percentage 
points less than at the end of January 2012.

The average 12-month price growth in Slovenia was 
2.6% in 2012 (2011: 1.8%). Prices of alcoholic beverages 
and tobacco rose the most (11.2%), followed by resta-
urants and hotels (9.3%), and food and non-alcoholic 
beverages (5.2%). The relatively low price growth was 
mainly the result of weak economic activity and the-
refore moderate core inflation. It was mainly driven by 
excise and other duties, and energy prices. Growth in 
global commodity and food prices was strong in 2012, 

and the pass-through of these developments along the 
food supply chain could be observed already towards the 
end of the year. The extent to which higher prices pass 
through from the international environment remains 
uncertain, as the current macroeconomic conditions 
allow less room for increasing retail prices than in 2007 
and 2008.

The recovery of production and exports of high- and 
medium-high technology industries which tend to be 
more export-oriented is faster than the recovery of low-
-technology industries which are more dependent on 
domestic demand. Merchandise exports and production 
volume in manufacturing were higher than in the same 
period in 2011, yet still significantly below the average 
of the pre-crisis 2008. Construction activity continues 
to see a consistent decline: after a significant fall in 
September 2011, it continued declining throughout 2012.

Slovenia’s banking sector had another difficult year in 
2012. Its total assets decreased by 4.2%, loans to non-
banks decreased by 4.4%, and loans to banks decreased 
by 7.5%. Net loss after tax reached EUR 746 million (2011: 
EUR 393 million), mainly due to impairments which amo-
unted to EUR 1.62 billion (2011: EUR 1.08 billion).

General business environment 
in 2012

2012201120102009

2.1
1.8

2.7

1.9 2.0

2008

Inflation
in %
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In 2013, we will operate under our new name Sberbank 
banka d.d., implementing a revised strategy. In the first 
half of the year we will complete certain unfinished inte-
gration processes to become a fully integrated member 
of the Sberbank Europe. For our clients, the most notice-
able change will be our new corporate image and the new 
design of our branches.

Business-wise, we will start implementing our revised 
strategy.

Corporate segment
In 2012, the bank expanded its focus to include also, in 
addition to small and medium-sized companies, large 
companies. All these segments kept growing despite the 
current difficult conditions in the loan market. The bank 
will continue dedicating the majority of its lending, busi-
ness and human resources to this main target group. We 
are expecting to see continuous growth in loans to these 
segments throughout 2013. We will pay special attention 
to building an integrated relationship with each client 
by following the bank’s medium-term strategy that lays 
out the number of clients and the quality of relationship 
with each of them.

In the second half of 2012, Sberbank banka focused on 
financing exports to and foreign trade with CIS coun-
tries. We worked closely with the SID bank to insure the 
risks arising from active transactions with counterpar-
ties from these countries. It is very important that we do 
business with clients established in the countries where 
Sberbank operates.

In the area of project financing, the bank was mainly 
involved in the development of small solar power plants, 
and has already identified the development of co-gene-
ration plants as an important opportunity for the future. 
Given the current conditions, we expect a standstill in 
residential sales on the one hand and residential market 
differentiation in terms of quality and location on the 
other. In accordance with its strategy, the bank does not 
plan an increase in the volume of project financing, but 
rather a gradual reduction.

Retail segment
In 2013, the bank has ambitious goals in all lines of busi-
ness associated with the retail segment. We will achieve 
them by significantly increasing the number of clients 
who receive their regular monthly income into their 
transaction accounts opened with the bank. To this end, 
we launched certain projects already in 2012. We are also 
developing an attractive range of packages to help indi-
viduals from our target client groups make the decision 
to switch banks. The bank will continue implementing 
the so-called “well-managed personal finance” concept 
and exceeding client expectations.

In the first half of 2013, we will also redesign the bank’s 
branch network to reflect the new corporate image. 
Special attention will be paid to micro companies, an 
important sub-segment in view of its cross-selling 
potential and size. We believe that with highly-motiva-
ted and highly-qualified employees, as well as products, 
services and processes that are client-oriented, we will 
achieve our ambitious goals.

Treasury
While the bank successfully restructured and increased 
its securities portfolio in 2012, it intends to stick to a con-
servative approach focused on debt securities from the 
Euro area (Slovenia, Germany, Austria) also in 2013.

We will continue to attract deposits as an alternative 
source of finance for the loan portfolio also in 2013. 
Growth in deposits will reflect the growth in the loan 
portfolio, the pace dictated by the bank’s activities in the 
money market and utilisation of instruments available at 
the European Central Bank.

The bank took an important step when it positioned 
itself as a significant provider of financial and commo-
dity derivatives. It will substantially increase the volume 
of transactions with financial derivatives in 2013.

Risk management
In view of economic conditions, the bank indicated in 
its 2013 business plan that loan volume should grow 

Strategy in 2013
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moderately and that there should be more activities in 
the field of deposits and other financial and investment 
products.

The plan also provides for close monitoring of all cost 
items and rationalisation of operations.

Being aware that the financial crisis has spread also to 
the real sector, the bank accordingly strengthened its 
credit and operational risk management. Above all, the 
bank will have to be able to identify clients in difficulty 
early in order to be able to assist them. As a rule, it will 
be reducing the unsecured portion of its loan portfolio 
to the benefit of secured loans.
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Sberbank banka d.d. has an authorisation to perform 
banking services pursuant to Article 7 of the Banking Act 
(Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 131/06, 1/08, 109/08 and 
19/09; ZBan-1). Banking services are the acceptance of 
deposits from the public and the granting of credits for 
its own account.

The bank also has authorisation to perform mutually-
-recognised and additional financial services listed below.

11. acceptance of deposits;
12. granting of credits, including:

- consumer credits,
- mortgage credits,
- factoring (with or without recourse),
- financing of commercial transactions, including 

forfeiting;
14. payment transaction services in accordance with the 

Payment Transaction Act (ZPlaP), excluding payment 
system management services;

15. issuance and management of payment instruments 
(i.e. credit cards and travellers’ cheques);

16. issuance of guarantees and other commitments;
17. trading for own account or for account of customers 

in:
- foreign exchange, including currency exchange 

transactions,
- exchange and interest-rate instruments,
trading for own account in:
- money market instruments,
- transferable securities;

18. participation in the issuance of securities and services 
related to such issues;

15. investment and ancillary investment services and 
operations.

The bank may perform the following additional financial 
services pursuant to Article 11 of the Banking Act:
1. insurance brokerage in accordance with the law 

governing the insurance business;
6. marketing of investment funds and the sale of inve-

stment coupons or shares in investment funds.

Lending
Sberbank banka d.d. continued with its active marketing 
to SMEs and private entrepreneurs, its target segment 
for several years now. As always, it paid special atten-
tion to new product development, as it is committed to 
regular new product introduction. In 2012, the bank allo-
cated even more money to the SME segment to ensure 
dispersion, lower risk, better collateral and of course 
higher margins.

The corporate segment saw extremely good results also 
in 2012, despite the difficult global and local economic 
situation in the last years. In general, Slovenia’s banking 
sector reduced its financing of companies, but the bank 
succeeded in increasing loans to companies and private 
entrepreneurs by as much as 23% compared to 2011. 
Loans to micro companies are not included. Income ear-
ned increased mainly due to the following: higher loan 
margins; an increase in loans to SMEs and large compa-
nies; and a decrease in project financing.

In the retail segment, the bank started implementing its 
strategic shift from housing to more profitable consu-
mer loans. The palette of consumer loans was revamped 
to allow their marketing at the points of sale of various 
consumer goods and services. The bank continued with 
the activities aimed at developing an individual approach 
to clients and advising within the so-called “well-mana-
ged personal finance” concept. The bank’s loan portfo-
lio decreased by 3%, which mainly reflects the generally 
lower demand for loans and the lower volume of new 
housing loans. Similarly as in 2011, the percentage of 
delayed loans did not grow significantly.

Loans to banks increased by 360% or EUR 50 million, 
as the bank had more short-term deposits placed with 
banks as it had at year-end 2011.

Core business
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thousand EUR

Loans by client type 31 Dec 2011 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2012 Structure (%) Index

Banks 14,028 1 50,488 64,516 6 460

Companies 604,004 72 139,309 743,313 73 123

Households 224,091 27 -7,377 216,714 21 97

Total loans 842,123 100 182,420 1,024,543 100 122

Loans by maturity

Short-term 120,535 14 47,091 167,626 16 139

Long-term 721,588 86 135,329 856,917 84 119

Loans by currency

EUR 740,066 88 195,312 935,380 91 126

Foreign exchange indexation 36,681 4 -4,481 32,200 3 88

Foreign currencies 65,376 8 -8,412 56,963 6 87

As regards loan maturity, long-term loans prevailed. 
They increased by 19% to EUR 857 million, while short-
-term loans also increased – by 39% to EUR 168 million. 
The share of short-term loans in the total loans granted 
by the bank increased by 2 percentage points to 16%, 
while the share of long-term loans decreased by 2 per-
centage points to 84%.

Euro-denominated loans grew by 26% to EUR 935 mil-
lion. Loans with a foreign exchange indexation clause 

decreased by 12% due to regular repayments, the same 
as loans in foreign currencies (down by 13%). Euro-
denominated loans account for the largest portion (91%) 
of the bank’s loan portfolio, followed by foreign cur-
rency-denominated loans (6%) and loans with a foreign 
exchange indexation clause (3%). Ever since the onset of 
the financial crisis in September 2008, the bank has not 
offered loans in Swiss francs.

Loans
Structure in %

2010 2011 2012

Loans to banks

Loans to companies

Loans to households

72

27
1

70

26
4

73

21
6
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Deposits
Deposits from non-banks and banks represent the most 
important source of financing available to the bank. 
Deposits as at year-end 2012 exceeded EUR 1,167 million, 
up 28% from a year ago. As regards deposit currency, 
88% were euro-denominated and the remaining 12% 
were foreign currency-denominated. As regards deposit 

maturity, 44% were long-term (mainly placed by banks) 
and the remaining 56% were short-term. Deposits are 
shown in the balance sheet within financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost (excluding subordinated 
debt).

Deposits from banks increased by 14% to represent 49% 
of the total deposits collected by the bank.

thousand EUR

Deposits by client type 31 Dec 2011 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2012 Structure (%) Index

Banks 504,354 55 73,023 577,377 49 114

Companies 264,128 29 132,341 396,469 34 150

Households 140,665 15 52,796 193,461 17 138

Total deposits 909,147 100 258,160 1,167,307 100 128

Deposits by maturity

Short-term 330,868 36 318,138 649,006 56 196

Long-term 578,279 64 -59,978 518,301 44 90

Deposits by currency

EUR 782,465 86 249,385 1,031,850 88 132

Foreign exchange indexation 0 0 0          0 0 0

Other 126,682 14 8,775 135,457 12 107

In the above table, the item “Deposits by client type”, 
“Banks”, includes also long-term loans obtained from 
banks, which at year-end 2012 amounted to EUR 377,148 
thousand (2011: EUR 471,305 thousand).

In 2012, the corporate segment actively attracted new 
deposits, which increased 50% compared to year-end 
2011. Also as regards deposits in E-Interest accounts, 
they did huge work in terms of deposit dispersion and 
volume stability.

In 2012, the retail segment grew household deposits 
by EUR 53 million, up 38% from 2011. This is the result 

of the bank’s strategic focus on deposit collection, for 
which reason it offered very attractive interest rates on 
fixed-term deposits in the first half of 2012. An active 
approach to sales and marketing and a bolder market 
proposition had a positive effect on the structure of the 
deposit portfolio. The share of fixed-term deposits incre-
ased to 55% from 44% in 2011.

The bank had EUR 193 million of household deposits at 
the end of 2012.
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Available-for-sale  
debt securities
In 2012, the bank’s portfolio of long-term securi-
ties increased by 72% to EUR 121.6 million. The bank 

continued with the investment policy designed in 2011, 
increasing its investments in fixed coupon government 
securities. The main reason behind this strategy is that 
the bank would like to have a larger portfolio of very 
safe government bonds which can be used for secon-
dary liquidity purposes.

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2011 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2012 Structure (%) Index

Long-term securities 70,922 100 50,725 121,647 100 172

Bonds issued by Member States 51,078 72 20,651 71,729 88 140

Bonds issued by Slovenian banks 19,844 28 -9,929 9,915 12 50

Bonds issued by foreign banks 0 0 40,004 40,004 49 0

Other bonds 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total investments in securities 70,922 100 50,725 121,647 149 172

Investments in securities  
by currency

EUR 70,922 100 50,725 121,647 100 172

Foreign currencies 0 0 0 0 0 0

Deposits
Structure in %

2010 2011 2012

Deposits from banks

Deposits from companies

Deposits from households

56

29

15

67

21

12

49

34

17
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Payment transactions 
In 2012, there was an intensive migration of processing 
of domestic direct debits from the so-called NPI scheme 
(abolished on 31 December 2012) into the so-called SEPA 
DD scheme. Unlike the abolished one, the SDD scheme 
allows debiting on any workday, and is no longer limited 
to Slovenia but covers the whole EU region. Our corpo-
rate clients successfully migrated into the SDD scheme.

In April 2012, the amended Regulation (EC) No.924/2009 
came into force removing the EUR 50,000 ceiling 
applying to the principle of equality of charges in cross-
-border payments.

In November 2012, there was a migration of pension 

processing into the SEPA ICT payment system (with a 
new cut-off time at 5 am).

International payment transactions
Compared to 2011, the volume of international payment 
transactions increased considerably, mainly because of 
an increased volume of incoming and interbank transa-
ctions. The number of international payment transacti-
ons, however, remained more or less at the same level.

The total volume of international payment transactions 
was EUR 1,780 million in 2012.

Structure of international payment transactions:

million EUR

IPT 2011 Structure (%) Change 2012 Structure (%)

Incoming 364 47.8 716 1,080 60.68

Outgoing 398 52.2 303 701 39.32

Total 762 100 1,019 1,780 100

Sberbank banka d.d. processes cross-border and inter-
national payments mainly by using trans-European 
payment systems such as SEPA and TARGET2. Our own 
correspondent network, which consists of 10 nostro 
accounts abroad and 5 loro accounts with the bank, 
is used mainly for treasury transactions and less for 
payment transactions.

As much as 91.9 % of international payments were made 
through the internet banking channel or 6.2 % more 
than in 2011.
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Domestic payment transactions

Domestic payment transactions increased in 2012 by 
9.8% in number terms, but decreased by 3.2% in volume 
terms.

The total volume of domestic payment transactions was 
EUR 6,454 million in 2012.

Structure of domestic payment transactions:

million EUR

DPT 2011 Structure (%) Change 2012 Structure (%)

Incoming 3,283 49.2 -64 3,219 49.88

Outgoing 3,384 50.8 -149 3,235 50.12

Total 6,667 100 -213 6,454 100

As much as 95.47 % of domestic payments were made 
through the internet banking channel or 2.17 % more 
than in 2011.

Insurance products
The bank continued with the “personal finance” con-
cept and active marketing of insurance products of the 
ERGO insurance company (former Victoria Volksbanken 
Versicherung, renamed in May 2012). The flexible Savings 
& Guarantee remained the best-selling product. At year-
-end 2012, the bank had a very successful sales campa-
ign »Saving Day«, when it sold a record number of life 
insurance policies. This notwithstanding, the bank’s 
insurance business was significantly below the 2011 level, 
mainly due to a lower demand for housing loans (still the 
main sales channel for insurance products) reflecting the 
current financial crisis in Slovenia.

Derivative financial instruments

In 2012, the bank provided services related to currency, 
interest rate and commodity derivatives to banks and 
companies. The latter are increasingly aware of the role 
that derivatives play in reducing currency, interest rate 
and commodity risks. As a rule, the bank provides servi-
ces related to derivatives only to first-class clients, and 
only within certain limits. All derivative transactions 
are also closed out in the domestic and international 
inter-bank markets. In 2012, the bank concluded some 
interest, foreign exchange and commodity derivative 
transactions. The majority were closed out on a “bac-
k-to-back” basis.
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At year-end 2012, the bank’s balance sheet total amo-
unted to EUR 1,338 million, up EUR 324 million or 32% 
from 2011.

 

Statement of financial position

Structure of assets
The table below shows bank assets as at 31 December:

thousand EUR

Assets 31 Dec 2011 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2012 Structure (%) Index

Cash and balances with central bank 79,860 8 86,471 166,331 12 208

Financial assets held for trading 806 0 1,425 2,231 0 277

Available-for-sale financial assets 70,935 7 50,732 121,667 9 172

Loans and receivables 843,162 83 186,261 1,029,422 77 122

Held-to-maturity financial assets 7,493 1 578 8,071 1 108

Property, plant and equipment 7,595 1 -458 7,137 1 94

Intangible assets 427 0 -85 342 0 80

Equity investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures 1,614 0 0 1,614 0 100

Tax assets 1,116 0 -237 879 0 79

Other assets 236 0 -31 205 0 87

TOTAL ASSETS 1,013,245 100 324,655 1,337,899 100 132

201220112010

935,935

1,337,899
1,013,245

Total assets as at 31 December
thousand EUR
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Loans (to banks and non-banks) accounted for 77% of 
total assets and increased by EUR 186.3 million from 
2011. Corporate loans alone increased by EUR 139 million.

Available-for-sale financial assets increased by EUR 50.7 
million or 72% and accounted for 9% of total assets. The 
increase is mainly attributable to the Slovenian gover-
nment bonds and bonds issued by the banks members 
of the Sberbank Europe Group – bought by the bank in 
order to improve liquidity.

Cash and balances with the central bank increased by 
EUR 86 million to EUR 166.3 million and represented 12% 

of total assets. The increase is mainly attributable to an 
increase in balances with Banka Slovenije as at year-end 
2012.

Property, plant and equipment decreased by EUR 458 
thousand, mainly due to regular depreciation.

Structure of  
liabilities and equity
The table below shows bank liabilities as at 31 December:

thousand EUR

Liabilities and equity 31 Dec 2011 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2012 Structure (%) Index

Deposits from central banks 0 0 25,182 25,182 2 0

Financial liabilities held for trading 1,231 0 985 2,216 0 180

Derivatives (hedge accounting) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 940,495 93 249,320 1,189,815 91 127

Provisions 677 0 93 770 0 114

Tax liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other liabilities 29 0 1,062 1,091 0 3762

Subscribed capital 43,140 4 45,000 88,140 7 204

Capital reserves 27,248 3 0 27,248 2 100

Revaluation reserves -3,638 0 2,856 -782 0 22

Reserves from profit  
(including retained earnings) 1,412 0 2,651 4,063 0 288

Net profit or loss  
for the current year 2,651 0 -2,495 156 0 6

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,013,245 100 324,655 1,337,899 100 132

Financial liabilities at amortised cost increased the most, 
by EUR 249.3 million. Those to non-banks increased by 
EUR 185 million, while those to banks decreased by EUR 
94 million.

Financial liabilities held for trading increased by 80% or 
EUR 985 thousand, which is mainly attributable to the 
increase in derivative financial instruments sold to non-
banks. The bank is closing such positions, which is evident 
also from the assets table.
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Off-balance sheet items
The volume of off-balance-sheet operations involving 
the bank’s contingent and assumed liabilities increased 
by EUR 15.3 million to EUR 155 million in 2012.

thousand EUR

Off-balance-sheet risky assets 31 Dec 2011 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2012 Structure (%) Index

Contigencies arising from pledged 
collateral, acceptance and other 
contigencies and commitments 
(including pledged assets for client’s 
liabilities)

18,000 13 12,748 30,749 20 171

Extended loans and advances, 
overdrafts, credit lines carried on 
assets side and other off-balance 
sheet commitments

51,430 37 22,681 74,111 48 144

Notional amounts of spot 
transactions 800 1 286 1,086 1 136

Notional amounts of derivatives 70,043 50 -20,450 49,592 32 71

Total 140,273 100 15,265 155,539 100 111

Liabilities from guarantees, letters of credit and other 
contingent liabilities increased by 71% to EUR 30 million 
EUR as at year-end 2012. Loans, overdrafts and credit 
lines granted increased by 44% to EUR 74 million.
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The bank closed the 2012 business year with a net 
profit of EUR 156 thousand, calculated in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 

structure of net income and expenses in 2012 is shown 
in the table below:

thousand EUR  

Net income and expenses            2011       Change            2012     Index

Net interest and similar income 20,363 -1,942 18,421 90

Net fee and commission income 2,140 689 2,828 132

Dividend income 0 6 6 0

Net gains/losses from financial assets not at fair value 746 453 1,200 161

Net gains/losses from financial assets held for trading 1,216 -951 265 22

Net foreign exchange gains/losses -1,133 1,225 92 -8

Net gains/losses on derecognition of assets -235 235 0 0

Other net operating income/expenses -7 95 88 -1,224

General administrative expenses 
(including amortisation/depreciation) -13,642 -647 -14,289 105

Provisions -83 83 0 0

Impairment -6,045 -2,355 -8,400 139

Profit or loss before tax 3,320 -3,109 211 6

Income tax (latent tax) -669 614 -55 8

Net profit or loss for the current year 2,651 -2,495 156 8

Net interest in 2012 was 10% lower than in 2011 due to 
the fall in Euribor, which affected a significant portion 
of assets.

Net fees and commissions for banking services increased 
by EUR 689 thousand or 32%.The increase in fees and 
commissions for administrative services and internatio-
nal and domestic payment transactions contributed the 
most to this growth.

Net gains from financial assets held for trading decrea-
sed by 78% or EUR 951 thousand. This item also includes 
the results from derivative financial instruments (car-
ried off-balance sheet) used for managing the bank’s 
open foreign currency positions. The results from open 
foreign currency positions carried on-balance sheet are 
shown under net foreign exchange gains/losses (up by 
EUR 1,225 thousand).

In order to have a clear view of the results achieved by 
the bank in this area, both positions must be summed 
up. This sum total increased by EUR 274 thousand in 
2012 (2012: EUR 357 thousand, 2011: EUR 83 thousand), 
mainly due to the higher income from derivative finan-
cial instruments sold to customers.

Administrative expenses including amortisation/depre-
ciation were 5% higher than in 2011. They comprise 
labour costs, costs of material and services, and amor-
tisation/depreciation charge. Administrative expenses 
grew the most.

The bank recognised impairments of EUR 8,400 thou-
sand, in accordance with its internal policy of assessment 
of losses arising from credit risk.

Results from operations 
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The provision of financial services is inevitably linked 
with risks. These represent the probability of future 
events affecting the bank’s stability or its income and 
capital. Due to their important role in national econo-
mies and to preserve client trust, banks must conduct 
their operations with due care and prudence, and main-
tain an adequate level of capital to protect themselves 
against such risks.

There are several risks inherent in banking operations 
that differ in terms of their nature and level. Banks also 
differ in their propensity to assume risks, which depends 
on their size, organisation and culture. Let us illustrate 
this with an example of two banks: one that considers 
credit risk as high and the other that considers it as low. 
This affects their market activities (their aggressiveness 
and innovativeness), their loan portfolio concentration, 
their product diversification, their accepted collateral 
types, etc. Both approaches are perfectly legitimate and 
each could be the right one given the environment in 
which the banks operate.

The central bank of Slovenia, Banka Slovenije, issued a 
“Regulation on risk management and implementation 
of the internal capital adequacy assessment process for 
banks and savings banks” (Official Gazette of the RS, 
nos. 135/06, 28/07, 104/07, 85/10 and 62/11), laying down 
the rules on risk management in banks. Pursuant to said 

Regulation, the banks must prepare strategies for assu-
ming and managing risks, thus revealing their approach 
to the risks assumed within the scope of their activities.

Strategies for assuming and managing risks must 
comprise:
• the objectives of and general principles for assuming 

and managing risk,
• an approach to managing individual risks,
• an approach to implementing the internal capital 

adequacy assessment process, and
• an outline of plans with regard to significant business 

activities, and a description of planned changes, if any, 
in the bank’s business strategy.

Risks shall include credit risk, market risks, interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, strategic risk, reputa-
tion risk, capital risk and profitability risk.

A more detailed description of credit risk, liquidity risk, 
market risks (including currency and interest rate risk) and 
operational risk that the bank is exposed to can be found 
in the notes to the financial statements under section 3. 
That section also includes the bank’s strategies for assu-
ming and managing risks, and other information required 
under the “Regulation on the books of account and annual 
reports of banks and savings banks”, and under IFRS 7..

Risk exposure
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The bank’s equity comprises subscribed capital, capi-
tal reserves, reserves from profit, revaluation reserves, 
retained earnings and net profit or loss for the year.

Sberbank banka d.d. received new capital from Sberbank 
Europe AG in 2012 and its subscribed capital increased 
by EUR 45 million. It comprises 21,136,784 ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of EUR 4.17. Capital reserves were 

not changed by receiving additional capital and compri-
sed mainly share premium.

At year-end 2012, book value of a share calculated based 
on the bank’s total equity was EUR 5.62, down EUR 1.22 
from a year ago.

Movements in equity items in 2012:

thousand EUR

Equity 31 Dec 2011 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2012 Structure (%) Index

Subscribed capital 43,140 36 45,000 88,140 74 204

Capital reserves 27,248 23 0 27,248 23 100

Revaluation reserves -3,638 -3 2,856 -782 -1 22

Reserves from profit (including 
retained earnings) 1,412 1 2,651 4,063 3 288

Net profit or loss for the current 
year 2,651 2 -2,495 156 0 6

Total equity 70,813 60 48,011 118,825 100 168

At year-end 2012, the bank’s share register showed 27 
owners, of which 1 was foreign and 26 domestic. Of 
all shares, as much as 99.98% were held by Sberbank 
Europe AG. In addition to the Slovenian Sberbank banka 
d.d., Sberbank Europe AG owns banks also in Slovakia, 
the Czech Republic, Hungary, Croatia, Bosnia and 

Herzegovina, Serbia and Ukraine, which have 280 sales 
outlets and 4,400 employees altogether.

Sberbank Europe AG was, as at 31 December 2012, 100% 
owned by Sberbank of Russia.

Shareholders as at 31 December 2012
Share of the bank’s subscribed capital

SBERBANK EUROPE AG 99.98%

Domestic shareholders 0.02%

Total 100.0%

Equity and shareholders
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The bank’s financial statements are included in the con-
solidated financial statements prepared by Sberbank 
Europe AG, which are available for viewing at Renngasse 
10, Vienna, and at the bank’s head office in Ljubljana. The 
bank does not have treasury shares in its portfolio, and 
did not form reserves to buy back treasury shares.

In July 2012, Sberbank Europe AG, Austria, recapitalised the 
bank by issuing 6,402,878 ordinary registered par-value 
shares for a total amount of EUR 26,700,001.26. This incre-
ased the bank’s subscribed capital to EUR 69,840,385,99 in 
August 2012, after registration with the Central Securities 
Clearing Corporation. In October 2012, Sberbank Europe 
AG, Austria, recapitalised the bank again, this time by sub-
scribing for 4,388,490 new shares in the total amount of 

EUR 18,300,003.30 – actually by converting subordinated 
debt to equity. By the end of 2012, the bank’s subscribed 
capital amounted to EUR 88,140,389.28, of which 99.98% 
was owned by Sberbank Europe AG.

Sberbank of Russia, the 100% owner of Sberbank Europe 
AG, is the largest bank in Russia where it owns almost 
one-third of aggregate banking assets. It was founded 
by the Central Bank of Russia, which is its main sharehol-
der with 50% of authorised capital plus one voting share. 
The other shareholders are more than 245,000 domestic 
and international investors. Sberbank of Russia operates 
the most extensive network in Russia with over 18,000 
branches, as well as subsidiaries in 20 countries including 
CIS and Central and Eastern Europe.
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Branch network
In 2012, the bank had the same number of business units 
as a year ago. In addition to the branch at the bank’s 
head office (at Dunajska cesta 128a in Ljubljana, where 
the bank moved in the second half of 2001), this network 
comprises also the following branches: Gosposka, 
Miklošičeva, Vič and Pavšičeva. The bank’s branches 
outside the capital comprise branches in:
• Koper,
•  Kranj,
•  Celje (with agency in Šentjur pri Celju),
•  Maribor (with agency in Tepanje) and
•  Šentjernej.

In 2012, the bank continued with the renovation of the 
security systems in its branches.

Capital investments
In 2012, the bank got a new owner and accordingly 
launched a project related to the new name of the 
bank, involving also a renovation of its headquarters 
and branches.

As planned, the bank continued investing in security 
systems modernisation, and also started upgrading its 
ATMs to ensure compliance with the PCI DSS standard.

The bank finished upgrading its disk system and thus 
ensured additional space for the central storage of data-
bases and other documentation.

Together with Oracle experts, the bank also continued 
with optimisation of the existing Oracle production 
database, and implementation of new business proces-
ses in the documentary system.

Information technology 
support
The information technology unit remained focused on 
developing support to the new banking products, as 

well as on ensuring continuity of the existing banking 
processes, thus indirectly contributing to the quality of 
services.

In 2012, the primary objective of the information tech-
nology unit was software implementation within the 
following projects: internet banking, digital certificates 
storage and firewall.

The information technology unit completed other 
important tasks associated with the following:
• implementation of the module “full audit trail in Hibis”
• implementation of the module “HEPI” (Hibis external 

preparation of printouts)
• implementation of the product “Maestro business 

debit card”
• implementation of the central module for tariff entry 

and approval
• implementation of the module for syndicated loans 

management
• migration to SEPA direct debits,
• making of fixed-term deposits via electronic banking 

by individuals,
• upgrading of the client database,
• upgrading of reporting under the Prevention of Money 

Laundering and Terrorist Financing Act,
• implementation of support for entering bills of credit 

and bills of seizure.

To increase security, the bank again upgraded the IDS/IPS 
system, which detects and blocks unauthorised access 
to and manipulation of the bank’s information system.

Together with an external contractor, ADACTA, the 
bank continued upgrading the electronic banking 
functionalities.

In order to ensure continuity of all critical banking pro-
cesses, the bank regularly updates its business continu-
ity plan and organises crisis training for its employees. 
A switchover to the secondary location was carried out 
also in 2012.

All the above-mentioned activities, as well as others 
pursued by the information technology and capital inve-
stments unit, were designed and managed as projects, 

Development milestones
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with the objective to enhance the IT support to the 
bank’s new products and improve the bank’s internal 
processes. In accordance with the principle of continuous 
knowledge expansion and transfer, the bank organised 
additional training for its employees in the field of infor-
mation security policy and protection, and thus raised 
awareness and improved management of relevant risks.

Employees
In 2012, the bank registered a slight increase in the num-
ber of employees, from 203 at year-end 2011 to 218 one 
year later, an increase of 7.4%. This is the highest incre-
ase since 2008 and reflects the trend of business expan-
sion and new business strategies within the Sberbank 
Europe.

The average number of employees in 2012 was 208. 
Their educational structure remained excellent: 56% of 
all employees had at least higher education (of these, 
4.5% had postgraduate education, 41.0% university edu-
cation and 10.5% higher education), and 44% had secon-
dary education.

Despite the cost management program, the bank 
increased the budget intended for employee training. 

This ensured all the necessary training that had to be 
provided in order to build employees’ expertise and 
ensure service quality. A project was launched aimed 
at developing employee personal and professional 
competences, and individual coaching strengthened 
the leadership and management skills of board mem-
bers and heads of divisions. One of the important ways 
of job-related training, particularly as regards product 
knowledge, remains internal training and knowledge 
transfer.

Employees were offered the following:
• job-related training,
• sales training for account managers in branches,
• training and workshops at the parent bank in Vienna,
• individual coaching for managers,
• training aimed at obtaining the required formal edu-

cation or licences,
• internal job-related training and knowledge transfer.

Seven employees were awarded the insurance licence 
and one more completed the associated training.

The bank also co-financed school fees of employees, 
as it encourages them to continue their formal educa-
tion if so required by the business process or for career 
development.
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thousand EUR

    2010 2011 2012

1. Balance sheet items (as at 31 December)

Balance sheet total 935,935 1,013,245 1,337,899

Total deposits from non-banks 273,580 404,816 589,930

a) corporate deposits 176,259 264,151 396,469

b) household deposits 97,321 140,665 193,461

Total loans to non-banks 809,491 828,095 960,027

a) corporate loans 588,790 604,003 743,313

b) household loans 220,701 224,092 216,714

Total equity 70,920 70,813 118,825

Impairment and provisions 24,900 24,858 29,168

Off-balance sheet items 128,728 140,273 155,539

Average household deposits 92,804 114,939 172,945

Average household loans 215,372 223,177 220,275

2. Income statement items (for the year ended 31 December)

Net interest income 19,057 20,363 18,421

Net non-interest income 2,735 2,727 4,478

Labour costs, general and administrative expenses -11,424 -12,855 -13,444

Amortisation/depreciation -832 -787 -845

Impairment and provisions -5,570 -6,128 -8,400

Profit before tax 3,967 3,320 211

Income tax -708 -669 -55

3. Number of employees (as at 31 December) 197 203 218

Key facts
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    2010 2011 2012

4. Shares (as at 31 December)

Number of shareholders 30 30 27

Shares outstanding 10,345,416 10,345,416 21,136,784

Nominal value per share (EUR) 4.17 4.17 4.17

Book value per share (EUR) 6.86 6.84 5.62

5. Indicators (%, unless otherwise indicated)

 a) Equity

Equity for capital adequacy purposes (thousand EUR) 91,452 94,324 128,012

Capital adequacy ratio 12.04% 11.70% 12.76%

 b) Asset quality

Impairments as% of total credit risk exposure 2.57 2.58 2.14

c) Profitability      

Interest margin 2.11 2.05 1.69

Interest + non-interest margin 2.41 2.32 2.10

Return on assets 0.44 0.33 0.02

Return on equity before tax 5.65 4.67 0.24

Return on equity after tax 4.65 3.73 0.18

d) Operating costs      

Operating expenses/average assets 1.35 1.37 1.31

e) Liquidity      

Average liquid assets/average short-term  
deposits from non-banks 17.73 31.71 37.96

Average liquid assets/average assets 6.31 10.14 11.08
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The Supervisory Board acted in accordance with the 
Banking Act (ZBan-1, Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 
99/10-UPB5 and following), Companies Act (ZGD-1, 
Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 65/09-UPB3 and fol-
lowing), Regulation on the Diligence of Members of the 
Management and Supervisory Boards (Official Gazette 
of the RS, no. 62/11), the bank’s Statute, and the bank’s 
Rules on Procedure of the Supervisory Board.

In 2012, the Supervisory Board had the following mem-
bers: Valentin Lubomirov Mihov (Chairman, appoin-
ted on 16 July 2012), Friedhelm Josef Boschert (Deputy 
Chairman, appointed on 16 July 2012, resigned on 31 
January 2013), Gerhard Wöber (Deputy Chairman until 
16 July 2012), David Vadnal (member), Jörg Langner 
(member) and Tatiana Boykova (member, appointed on 
23 April 2012). Christophe Marcel Descos was Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board until 30 June 2012, when he 
resigned as Chairman and as member.

Four members are representatives of the bank’s majo-
rity owner (Sberbank Europe AG, which holds 99.98% 
of the bank), and one of Sberbank Russia (100% owner 
of Sberbank Europe AG). All have the knowledge and 
experience needed for the adoption of resolutions in the 
bank’s best interest, and for making independent, unbi-
ased, professional, objective, fair and comprehensive 
judgments. The Supervisory Board members elect from 
amongst themselves a chairman and a deputy chairman.

In 2012, the Supervisory Board at its four regular sessi-
ons, as well as through the Management Board’s 
reports, supervised the legality, expediency and eco-
nomy of the bank’s management. It regularly conside-
red the Management Board’s reports and adopted the 
necessary resolutions throughout 2012. Attendance of 
members at the regular Supervisory Board’s sessions 
was high, 85.7% in total.

In the first half of 2012, the Supervisory Board focused 
mainly on the 2011 results of operations (and approved 

them), as well as on the internal audit’s annual report 
(and approved its 2012 plan).

In accordance with the Banking Act, the Supervisory 
Board at its 51st regular meeting on 9 June 2009 set 
up the Audit Committee, which is constituted of two 
members of the Supervisory Board and one independent 
expert. In 2012, the members of the Audit Committee 
held four regular meetings.

Throughout 2012, the Supervisory Board supervised 
implementation of the resolutions adopted by itself 
and the general assembly, and adequacy of the inter-
nal control system. It considered the quarterly reports 
of the internal audit and other supervisory bodies, as 
well as of the Management Board. It approved the 2012 
financial plan, and otherwise promptly and thoroughly 
considered all important matters concerning the bank’s 
operations, strategy and policies. It regularly supervised 
the bank’s management and performance, and exami-
ned the reports of the Management Board, the internal 
audit and the external auditor.

The 2012 annual report was audited by Ernst & Young, 
d.o.o., Ljubljana. In their opinion, the 2012 financial sta-
tements, prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union, presented fairly, in all material aspects, 
the bank’s financial position as at 31 December 2012, as 
well as the results of its operations and its cash-flows for 
the year then ended. The business report was conside-
red as compliant with the audited financial statements.

Based on this opinion, as well as on the 2012 finan-
cial report prepared by the Management Board, the 
Supervisory Board confirmed the 2012 annual report.

The Supervisory Board expresses its appreciation to the 
bank’s Management Board and employees for their achi-
evements in 2012.

Ljubljana, May 2013 Valentin Lubomirov Mihov

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Report of the  
Supervisory Board



Financial 
statements
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The management of the Bank has approved the financial 
statements of Sberbank banka d. d. for the year ended 
31 December 2012, the applied accounting policies, and 
the notes to the financial statements (pages 42 to 110).

The management of the Bank is responsible for prepa-
ring the annual report, which gives a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 
2012 and the results of its operations for the year then 
ended. 

The management of the Bank confirms that accepted 
accounting policies have been used on a consistent basis 
and that the accounting estimates have been made in 
compliance with the principle of prudence. The mana-
gement of the Bank also confirms that the financial 

statements have been prepared on the assumption of a 
going concern and in compliance with the relevant legi-
slation and International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the EU. 

The management is also responsible for the proper 
management of accounting, taking appropriate mea-
sures to protect the Bank’s assets and preventing and 
discovering fraud, other irregularities or illegal acts. 

Tax authority is allowed to start tax audit in five years 
following the year when the tax return has to filed. 
Consequently, additional tax liabilities, penalty interest 
and fines could arise out of income tax and other taxes. 
Management board is not aware of any circumstances 
which could cause material liability out of this matter.

Statement of management’s 
responsibilities

mag. Gašpar Ogris–Martič

Chairman

Aleš Zajc, MBA

Deputy Chairman

mag. Johann Staudigl

Board Member

Sergey Ludentsov, MBA

Board Member

Ljubljana, 5. 4. 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Statement of financial position  
as at 31 Dec 2012

thousand EUR

ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES

     AMOUNT
31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Cash and cash balances with central banks 4 166,331 79,860
Financial assets held for trading 5 2,231 806
Available-for-sale financial assets 6 121,667 70,935
Loans and receivables 7 1,029,422 843,162
- debt securities 7.1 0
- loans to banks 7.2 64,516 14,028
- loans to non-bank customer 7.3 960,028 828,095
- other financial assets 7.4 4,879 1,038
Held-to-maturity investments 8 8,071 7,493
Property, plant and equipment 9 7,137 7,595
Intangible assets 9 342 427
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 10 1,614 1,614
Tax assets 11 879 1,116
- current taxes 664 150
- deferred taxes 215 966
Other assets 12 205 236
TOTAL ASSETS 1,337,899 1,013,245
Deposits from central banks 25,182 0
Financial liabilities held for trading 13 2,216 1,231
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 15 1,189,815 940,495
- deposits from banks 15.1 200,229 33,049
- deposits from non-bank customers 15.2 589,930 404,793
- loans from banks 15.3 377,148 471,305
- loans from non - bank  customers 15.4 0 0
- debt securities 15.5 0 0
- subordinated liabilities 15.6 18,946 28,377
- other financial liabilities 15.7 3,561 2,971
Provisions 16 770 677
Tax liabilities 17 0 0
Other Liabilities 18 1,091 29
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,219,074 942,432
Share capital 19 88,140 43,140
Share premium 19 27,248 27,248
Revaluation reserve 19 -782 -3,638
Reserves from profit (including retained earnings) 19 4,063 1,412
Profit or loss from current year 19 156 2,651
TOTAL EQUITY 118,825 70,813
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,337,899 1,013,245
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Income statement for the period  
from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

thousand EUR

ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES

    AMOUNT

for the  
period from  

1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

for the 
period from 

1 Jan to 31 Dec20 11

Financial and operating income and expenses 22,900 23,090
Interest income 22 40,084 39,499
Interest expenses 22 -21,662 -19,135
Net interest income 22 18,421 20,363
Dividend income 23 6 0
Fee and commission income 24 3,548 3,165
Fee and commission expense 24 -719 -1,025
Net fee and commission income 24 2,828 2,140

Realised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss 25 1,200 746

Gains and losses on financial assets and  
liabilities held for trading 26 265 1,216

Exchange differences 27 92 -1,133

Gains and losses on derecognition of assets  
other then held for sale 28 0 -235

Other operating net income 29 88 -7
Administrative expenses 30 -13,444 -12,855
Amortization and depreciaton 31 -845 -787
Provisions 32 -0 -83
Impairment 32 -8,400 -6,045
TOTAL PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 33 211 3,320

Tax expense (income) related to profit and loss 
 from continuing operations 33 -55 -669

TOTAL PROFIT  AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 33 156 2,651
NET PROFIT OR LOSS for the financial year 156 2,651

Basic earnings per share 19 0.01 0.26
Diluted earnings per share 19 0.01 0.26
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Statement of comprehensive income 
from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

thousand EUR

    AMOUNT

ITEM DESCRIPTION

for the  
period from  

1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

for the  
period  from 

1 Jan to 31 Dec 11

NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX 156 2,651

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER TAX 2,856 -2,758

Available-for-sale financial assets 3,605 -3,447

Valuation gains (losses) taken to equity 3,605 -3,447

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income -749 689

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX  3,012 -107
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Statement of changes in equity  
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

thousand EUR

ITEM DESCRIPTION
Share  

Capital
Share 

premium
Revaluation 

reserve
Reserves 

from profit

Retained earnings 
(including profit 

from the current 
year)

Total  
equity

OPENING BALANCE FOR  
THE REPORTING PERIOD 43,140 27,248 -3,638 6 4,057 70,813

Comprehensive income for  
the financial year after tax 0 0 2,856 0 156 3,012

New share capital subscribed (paid) 45,000 45,000

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 88,140 27,248 -782 6 4,213 118,825

BALANCE SHEET AVAILABLE 
PROFIT for financial year 0 156 156
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Statement of changes in equity  
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2011

thousand EUR

ITEM DESCRIPTION
Share  

Capital
Share 

premium
Revaluation 

reserve
Reserves 

from profit

Retained earnings 
(including profit 

from the current 
year)

Total  
equity

OPENING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 43,140 27,248 -880 6 1,406 70,920

Comprehensive income for the 
financial year after tax 0 0 -2,758 0 2,651 -107

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 43,140 27,248 -3,638 6 4,057 70,813

BALANCE SHEET AVAILABLE 
PROFIT for financial year 0 2,651 2,651
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Statement of cash flows  
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

thousand EUR

Designation ITEM DESCRIPTION

    AMOUNT
for the  

period from  
1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

for the  
period from  

1 Jan to 31 Dec 2011

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
a) Total profit or loss before tax 211 3,320

Depreciation 845 786
Impairments / (reversal of impairments) of financial assets held to maturity 8,400 6,045
Net (gains) / losses from exchange differences -92 1,133
Net (gains) / losses from financial assets held to maturity 110 14
Net (gains) / losses from sale of tangible assets and investment properties 0 6
Unrealised (gains) / losses from financial assets measured  
at fair value that are component of cash equivalents 113 -314

Net unrealised gains in revaluation reserves from financial assets available 
for sale (excluding effect of deferred tax -3,605 -3,447

Other adjustments to total profit or loss before tax 3,261 4,464
Cash flow from operating activities before changes  
in operating assets and liabilities 9,243 12,007

b) (Increases) / decreases in operating assets (excl.cash ˛cash equivalents) -190,376 -38,778
Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets held for trading -74 -36
Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets available for sale -46,023 -16,380
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and receivables -140,515 -21,944
Net (increase) / decrease in other asset -3,764 -418

c) (Increases) / decreases in operating liabilities 283,568 76,198
Net (increase) / decrease in financial liabilities to central bank 25,000 0
Net (increase) / decrease in financial liabilities held for trading 73 38
Net (increase) / decrease in deposits, loans and receivables  
measured a amortised cost 257,607 75,214

Net (increase) / decrease in liability-derivative - hedge accounting 0 -43
Net (increase) / decrease in other liabilities 888 989

č) Cash flow from operating activities  (a+b+c) 102,435 49,427
d) Income taxes (paid) refunded -526 -1,514
e) Net cash flow from operating activities  (č+d) 101,909 47,913

B. CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
a) Receipts from investing activities 0 11

Receipts from the sale of tangible assets and investment properties 0 11
b) Cash payments on investing activities -902 5,068

(Cash payments to acquire tangible assets and investment properties) -215 -482
(Cash payments to acquire intangible fixed assets) -87 -170
(Cash payments to acquire held to maturity investments) -600 -4,416

c) Net cash flow from investing activities  (a-b) -902 -5,057
C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
a) Cash proceeds from financing activities 35,450 0

Cash proceeds from subordinated liabilities issued 8,750 0
Cash proceeds from issuing shares and other equity instruments 26,700 0

b) Cash payments on financing activities -719 0
(Other cash payments related to financial activities) -719 0

c) Net cash flow from financing activities (a-b) 34,731 0
D. Effects of change in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents -113 -314
E. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (Ae+Bc+Cc) 135,738 42,856
F. Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 93,888 51,346
G. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents (D+E+F) 229,513 93,888
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1. Introduction
Sberbank banka d.d., Dunajska cesta 128 a, 1000 
Ljubljana, prepared its annual report in accordance 
with International Financial Accounting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union, and the “Regulation 
on the books of account and annual reports of banks 
and savings banks”. In forming its accounting policies, 
the bank also considered other legislation, such as the 
“Regulation on the assessment of credit risk losses of 
banks and savings banks”, and other regulations and 
instructions issued by Banka Slovenije.

The bank’s majority owner as at 31 December 2012 was 
Sberbank Europe AG, Renngasse 10, 1010 Wien, Austria, 
which in turn is consolidated within Sberbank of Russia. 
The consolidated financial statements are available for 
viewing on their web page.

Financial statements were audited by Ernst & Young, 
d.o.o., Ljubljana, which issued an unqualified opinion.

2.  Significant  
accounting policies

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the 
financial statements are fully compliant with IFRS as 
adopted by the European Union, and the bank’s internal 
policies.

All significant accounting policies are presented on the 
following pages. They were consistently applied in both 
financial years presented, except if otherwise indicated. 
If necessary, comparative data were restated in order to 
assure comparability with the current period.

Changes in the statement of financial position 
scheme
On 1 November 2012, the amended “Instructions for the 
preparation of statement of financial position, income 
statement and statement of comprehensive income” 
entered into force, affecting the structure of said finan-
cial statements.

The scheme of statement of financial position changed 
mainly as regards classification of items within other 
assets and other liabilities. Other financial assets previou-
sly included under A.XV. OTHER ASSETS are now included 
under A.V. 4. LOANS.

Other financial assets now included in loans are the 
following:
• other financial assets,LOANS
• cheques sent for collection, certain receivables from 

the issuers of cheques and other operating receivables,
• trade receivables,
• receivables from insurance companies for compensa-

tions.

All other items of other financial assets are included 
under A.XV. OTHER ASSETS.

Financial liabilities were excluded from item XI. OTHER 
LIABILITIES to be included under IV.7. FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST.

Other financial liabilities now included in financial lia-
bilities measured at amortised cost are the following:
• liabilities from card transactions,
• trade liabilities,
• other operating liabilities,
• liabilities for non-executed payments,
• accrued expenses,
• liabilities for salaries and related compensations, con-

tributions and taxes,
• liabilities for employee bonuses from profit – gross,
• liabilities for profit participation – gross dividend,
• other financial liabilities.

All other items of other financial liabilities are included 
under XI. OTHER LIABILITIES.

The changes introduced do not affect income statement 
and statement of comprehensive income. For compara-
bility purpose, the new scheme was also applied to the 
2011 financial statements.

Notes to financial statements
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a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union.

b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements were prepared on the historical 
cost basis, except for financial assets held for trading and 
available-for-sale financial assets, which are measured 
at fair value.

c) Use of estimates and judgements
Preparation of the financial statements requires mana-
gement to make judgements, estimates and assumpti-
ons that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. The actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

Estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estima-
tes are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised, and in any future periods affected.

Estimates were made in relation to loan impairment, 
provisions for off-balance sheet risks, amortisation/
depreciation period of intangible assets/property, plant 
and equipment, and provisions for employee benefits 
and pending lawsuits.

d) Definition of the Group
The Group consists of Sberbank banka d.d. as parent, 
and Privatinvest, d.o.o., as subsidiary (100% owned by 
the parent).

The bank’s equity investment in the subsidiary is 
recognised at costs in its financial statements.

In accordance with Article 7 of the “Regulation on the 
supervision on a consolidated basis” and due to its insi-
gnificance for the financial position of the Sberbank 
banka Group, Privatinvest was excluded from conso-
lidation. The bank is meeting the IAS 27 requirements 
regarding the exception from consolidation. Privatinvest 
was consolidated by Sberbank Europe AG, which prepa-
res its consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS.

e) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in euro, which 
is the bank’s functional and presentation currency. All 
financial information is presented in thousand EUR.

f) Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated to the 
functional currency at the relevant exchange rates on 
the transaction date. Foreign exchange differences are 
recognised in profit or loss.

g) Property, plant and equipment
The bank uses the cost model, under which an item of 
property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, and impaired only if there is 
objective evidence of impairment.

Depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment 
begins when it is available for use. It is then depreciated 
using the straight-line method over its useful life. This is 
the period of time over which an asset is expected to be 
used by the bank, and is the following:

• buildings up to 40 years
• computer equipment from 3 to 5 years
• motor vehicles from 4 to 8 years
• other equipment from 3 to 10 years

The useful life in 2012 did not change and it is the same 
as in 2011.

Land is recognised separately from buildings. Its useful 
life is unlimited and it is therefore not depreciated. In 
case of co-ownership of offices, the value of the apper-
taining land is included in the cost of such offices.

On annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for 
indication of impairment. If  such an indication is availa-
ble, the bank estimates the recoverable amounts of such 
assets. If that is lower than initial costs minus accumula-
ted depreciation, impairment of such an asset is needed. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecogni-
sed on disposal or when no further benefits are expected 
from them. 
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When loss of a fixed asset occurs, the difference 
between the net market value and the current book 
value is shown in gains and losses or in losses occurred 
at elimination of fixed assets.

h) Intangible assets
The Bank uses the cost model for measuring intangi-
ble assets. After initial recognition intangible assets are 
depreciated. They are impaired only if there is indica-
tion of impairment. Intangible assets comprise compu-
ter software and licences. An item of intangible assets 
is amortised using the straight-line method. Items of 
intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when 
no further benefits are expected from them. At this 
point, amortisation stops.

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life. This 
is the period of time over which an asset is expected to 
be used by the bank, and is the following:

• licences from 5 to 10 years
• software up to 4 years

On annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for 
indication of impairment. If  such indication is available, 
the bank estimates the recoverable amount of intangible 
assets annually. If it is lower than the cost, an impairment 
loss must be recognised. Recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The bank does not have intangible assets with an inde-
finite useful life, which would require impairment testing 
on an annual basis.

i) Financial assets
On initial recognition, the bank classifies financial 
instruments into the following categories, taking into 
account the purpose of purchase, the holding period and 
the type:

• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
can be held for trading, which means that they were 
acquired for the purpose of selling in the short term, 
or can be designated as such in accordance with IAS 
39. The bank classifies all equity, debt and derivative 
instruments (except those designated as hedging 
instruments) as held for trading;

• held-to-maturity financial assets: are financial 
assets with determinable payments and maturity that 
the bank intends and is able to hold to maturity;

• available-for-sale financial assets: are expected to 
be held for an indefinite period of time and can be 
sold for liquidity purposes or due to changes in inte-
rest rates, foreign exchange rates or prices of financial 
instruments;

• loans and receivables: are financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.

Based on a decision to purchase a security, the asset-
liability committee defines the purpose of purchase and 
classifies the security accordingly.

Purchases of financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised on the trade date.

Financial assets other than those at fair value through 
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, increa-
sed by any transaction costs directly attributable to the 
purchase.

Gains and losses on financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss for the same 
period. Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial 
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, 
and transferred to profit or loss on derecognition due to 
disposal or impairment.

Held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at 
amortised cost.

The bank derecognises a financial asset when the con-
tractual rights to receive the cash flows from it expire, 
or when it transfers the asset together with all the 
risks and rewards of ownership. Regular way purchases 
and sales are recognised using trade date accounting. 
Trade date is the date on which the bank undertakes 
to purchase or sell the asset. The bank derecognises a 
financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expire.
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j) Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets are impaired based on the provisions 
and criteria:
• laid down in the bank’s policy of assessment of credit 

risk losses, and
• applicable to measurement of financial instruments 

at fair value.

Specifics in the case of an inactive market:
If the transaction price of a financial instrument in an ina-
ctive market significantly differs from the fair value of the 
same instrument in another comparable market, or if the 
transaction price significantly differs from the price based 
on a valuation model, which takes into account assumpti-
ons of an active market, the bank immediately recognises 
the difference between the transaction price and the fair 
value in the income statement, under net gains and losses 
from trading as the “day one” profit or loss. If the mar-
ket price is irrelevant, the difference between the tran-
saction price and the price based on a valuation model is 
recognised in the income statement only when the mar-
ket becomes relevant or when the instrument is sold.

k)  Measurement of financial instruments at fair 
value

Financial assets held for trading, financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, and available-for-sale finan-
cial assets are measured at fair value.

Fair value is based on the asset’s quoted market price in 
an active market at the balance sheet date. If this is not 
available, the bank establishes the fair value by using the 
discounted cash flow or pricing models.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair 
value, with changes in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Prior to each reporting date the bank assesses whether 
there are impairment signals in the financial assets avai-
lable for sale. A significant or long-term decline of finan-
cial asset’s fair value below its cost is also an objective 
evidence of impairment. The decision of what presents 
an important or long-term decline in fair value is based 
on estimates. In making such estimates, among other 
factors, the bank takes into account the volatility of 
securities prices.

In the case of impairment of debt financial assets, which 
are available-for-sale, the cumulative loss is recognized 
in the income statement, which can be reversed. If, in 
a subsequent period, fair value of a debt of financial 
assets available-for-sale increases and the increase can 
be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognized, the reversal of impairment 
loss is recognized through the income statement.

In the case of impairment of available-for-sale equ-
ity securities available for sale, an impairment loss is 
recognised in the income statement. Reversal of impa-
irment of equity securities is not reversed through the 
income statement, but the subsequent increase in fair 
value is directly recognized in other comprehensive 
income.

l) Financial instruments at amortised cost
Held-to-maturity financial instruments may be impaired 
if there is objective evidence of impairment. Impairment 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the net present value of estima-
ted cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s origi-
nal effective interest rate. It is recognised in the income 
statement.

m) Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives, including currency futures/forward contra-
cts, currency options, interest rate swaps and futures/
forward contracts relating to securities, are used by the 
bank for trading and hedging purposes. They are mea-
sured at fair value (market prices), with changes in fair 
value recognised in the income statement.

n) Loans and receivables
Loans are measured at amortised cost. They are recogni-
sed at the principal outstanding, increased by interest 
and fees accrued, and reduced to account for allowan-
ces, in accordance with the bank’s policy of assessment 
of credit risk losses.

The bank assesses on an ongoing or at least quarterly 
basis whether there is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset, and whether such events 
affect the cash flows from the asset that can be reliably 
estimated. Such evidence could include the following: a 
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debtor’s failure to make payments when due, a debtor’s 
imminent bankruptcy, compulsory settlement or finan-
cial reorganisation, etc.

Impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. In case of first-class col-
lateral, cash flows from usage of such collateral are also 
included. The asset’s carrying amount is reduced directly 
or through the allowance account. Impairment loss is 
recognised in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss relating to a financial asset decreases, the previou-
sly recognised impairment loss is reversed in the income 
statement.

If possible, the bank prefers to restructure loans rather 
than to take possession of collateral. Loan restructuring 
involves extending payment agreements and collabora-
tion on achieving new terms, which are acceptable for 
both parties. Once the terms have been renegotiated, 
the loan is no longer considered past due, but client’s 
rating cannot improve only based on restructuring. 
The bank constantly monitors the compliance with the 
terms of restructured loans and at the same time moni-
tors the likelihood of future repayments. Restructured 
loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective 
impairment assessment, calculated on the basis of the 
original effective interest rate of the loan.

o) Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid assets that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

Cash equivalents include:
• cash and balances in the settlement account with the 

central bank and in the current accounts with other 
banks;

• loans to banks with an original maturity of up to three 
months; and

•  investments in debt securities issued by the Member 
States or their central banks or the European Central 

Bank with an original maturity of up to three months.

p) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities comprise liabilities to clients for the 
deposits made, liabilities to creditors for the loans gran-
ted, liabilities from securities issued, and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognised at the amounts arising 
from the relevant documents, which evidence the rece-
ipt of cash, and are measured at amortised cost. They 
are increased by accrued interest/returns and reduced 
by the amounts paid.

r) Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial 
position if the bank has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event; and if it is pro-
bable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, which 
can be reliably estimated. The bank has provisions for 
employee benefits (severance and similar), off-balance 
sheet liabilities, pending lawsuits, etc.

The bank has provisions for retirement and anniversary 
benefits that reflect the net present value of its future 
obligations. These are calculated for each employee by 
estimating the costs of his or her retirement bonus as 
laid down in the employment contract, and the costs 
of all his or her anniversary bonuses until retirement. 
For the Sberbank Europe, a certified actuary based in 
Austria calculates such future obligations for long-term 
employee benefits for each Group entity separately.

The bank recognises provisions for off-balance sheet lia-
bilities when the conditions are met as laid down in the 
bank’s policy of assessment of credit risk losses.

s) Financial and operating income and expenses
Financial and operating income and expenses are 
recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to/from the bank, and if they can be measured 
reliably.

t) Interest income and expenses
Interest income and expenses are recognised in the 
income statement using the effective interest method.
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The effective interest method is a method of calcula-
ting the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability, 
and of allocating its interest income or expenses over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future flow 
of cash payments or receipts through the expected life 
of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, in a 
shorter period, to the carrying amount of the financial 
asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows consi-
dering all contractual terms of the financial instrument 
but not future credit losses. The calculation includes all 
payments or receipts between parties to the contract 
(interest, fees, transaction costs, etc.)

u) Dividends
Dividend income comprises dividends and shares of pro-
fit arising from the bank’s equity investments. Dividend 
income is recognised in the income statement on 
the date when the bank’s right to receive payment is 
established.

v) Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income comprises the amounts 
charged by the bank for the services provided, in accor-
dance with the bank’s tariff or contracts between the 
bank and its clients.

Fee and commission expenses comprise the amounts 
paid by the bank for the services provided by others, in 
accordance with the contracts between the bank and 
such third persons.

Fee and commission income and expenses are recogni-
sed in the income statement when the service is 
completed.

aa)  Income and expenses from financial 
transactions

Income and expenses from financial transactions com-
prise realised gains or losses from financial assets not 
measured at fair value through profit of loss, and gains 
or losses from trading in equity and debt securities 
and derivatives measured at fair value through profit 
or loss.

ab) Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses comprise rentals 
for offices leased out, and other operating income, as 
well as duties, membership fees and other operating 
expenses.

ac) Impairment
Impairment comprises impairment of financial assets 
measured at amortised costs recognised in accordance 
with the bank’s policy of assessment of credit risk losses.

ad) Taxes
Current tax is recognized at the amount calculated by 
the bank in accordance with the Corporate Profit Tax 
Act (ZDDPO-2) and applying the rate of 18% (for 2012).

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary diffe-
rences, which are the differences between the tax 
base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount 
in the statement of financial position. Deferred taxes 
are calculated using the tax rates that are expected 
to apply when assets are realised or liabilities are 
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax associated with measurement of available-
for-sale financial assets is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

ae) Segment reporting
Segment reporting is used only by the Sberbank Europe, 
which presents segment information in respect of the 
Group’s business and geographical segments. The 
Group’s primary format for segment reporting is based 
on business segments, determined by the Group’s mana-
gement and internal reporting structure.

af) Employee benefits
Employment benefits include retirement and anniver-
sary bonuses. Provisions for employee benefits are cal-
culated by an independent actuary. In 2012, they were 
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estimated using the latest employee data and the fol-
lowing assumptions:
• interest rate: 3.25% (previous year: 4.5%),
• future salary increase: 3.5% (previous year: 3.5%).

The bank as employer pays certain statutory contribu-
tions which amount to 16.1% of the gross salaries paid, 
and has otherwise no other obligations. Contributions 
are recognised as expenses in the period in which they 
are incurred. They are included within labour costs in 
the income statement. Under Slovenian legislation, 
employees retire after 35 to 40 years of service when, 
provided they meet certain conditions, they are entitled 
to a one-off retirement bonus. They are also entitled to 
an anniversary bonus for every 10 years of service.

These obligations are measured as the net present value 
of future obligations, while any gains and losses arising in 
this connection are recognised in the income statement.

ag) Related parties
Under the »Regulation on large exposures of banks and 
savings banks«, a group of related parties means the 
following:

• a group consisting of two or more natural or legal per-
sons who, unless proved otherwise, constitute a single 
risk for the bank because one of them, directly or indi-
rectly, has control over the other or others;

• a group consisting of two or more natural or legal per-
sons between whom there is no relationship of con-
trol, but who are regarded as constituting a single risk 
for the bank because they are so interconnected that, 
if one of them were to experience financial problems, 
the other or all others would be likely to encounter 
repayment difficulties.

Generally, related parties are all persons who hold more 
than a 50% share of another legal person, or legal per-
sons which are majority-owned by such persons. When 
determining a group of related clients, the bank must in 
particular consider the following forms of ties:
• legal persons that have common holders of shares;
• companies related by joint control;
• entities that are mutually economically connected and 

dependent, these ties being irreplaceable in the short 
term;

• individual natural persons and their immediate family 
members;

• natural persons, and legal persons in which these 
natural persons are members of management bodies 
or have any other significant influence in their mana-
gement of the legal persons;

• natural persons that pursue business activities as 
private entrepreneurs, and their immediate family 
members.

When determining a group of connected clients, the 
bank does not consider relations with the central 
government.

ah) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when the bank has a legal right and intention to set off 
an asset against a liability, or when the asset is realised 
and the liability settled at the same time.

ai) Repurchase agreements
Securities purchased but agreed to be sold back (under 
repurchase agreements) are included within loans to 
clients. Under such agreements, the risks and rewards 
of ownership are not transferred to the bank, for which 
reason they have the characteristics of loans collaterali-
sed with securities. The difference between the purchase 
and selling price is recognised as interest income, allo-
cated over the relevant period by means of the effective 
interest method.

aj) Leases
A finance lease is a lease in which the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred 
to the lessee. Title may be passed to the lessee or not. 
Under a finance lease contract, the lessee may purchase 
the asset or return it to the lessor. Such a lease usually 
cannot be unilaterally terminated. Deprecation of leased 
assets is consistent with depreciation of the bank’s own 
assets.

A lease other than a finance lease is an operating lease.

Bank as lessee
In the case of operating leases, all payments made are 
recognised in the income statement over the contract 
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term. If the contract is terminated early, all payments to 
the lessor due to such early termination are recognised 
as expenses upon termination.

Assets acquired under finance lease contracts are 
included in property, plant and equipment at the lower 
of their fair value or present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Payments made are recognized as interest 
expense. Property, plant and equipment assets acqui-
red under finance lease contracts are depreciated over 
the shorter of their estimated useful life or lease term 
if there is no reasonable certainty that the bank will 
obtain their ownership by the end of the lease term.

Bank as lessor
Assets leased out under operating lease contracts are 
included in investment property or property, plant and 
equipment. Lease income is recognised in the income 
statement over the contract term.

In the case of assets leased out under finance lease 
contracts, the present value of future lease payments is 
recognised as a receivable under finance lease contracts. 
Lease income is recognised as interest income over the 
contract period, reflecting a constant periodic return of 
the bank.

ak) Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that provide for 
payments to be made if the debtor fails to make 
payment when due. The bank issues financial guaran-
tees to other banks, financial institutions and non-ban-
king clients in order to insure their debts, overdrafts and 
other transactions.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value. 
Subsequently, they are recognised at the higher of the 
fair value less any fees and the present value of disbur-
sements that the bank, based on its data and experi-
ence, expects to be required to settle the obligation. 
An increase in liabilities from financial guarantees is 
included within other operating expenses in the income 
statement.

al) Fiduciary business
Assets acquired by the bank within its fiduciary busi-
ness are not risky and therefore kept separately from the 

bank’s own assets. Fiduciary services comprise services 
associated with loan arrangement and securities tran-
sactions on behalf of third parties, for which the bank 
charges a fee.

am) Standards and interpretations
The accounting policies, used in the preparation of 
the financial statements are consistent with those of 
the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2011, except for new and amended standards 
as of 1 January 2012, as presented below.

New standards
IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards: Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of 
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters
The amendment provides guidance on how an entity 
can resume presenting IFRS financial statements when 
its functional currency ceases to be subject to severe 
hyperinflation. 

A further amendment is the removal of the legacy of fixed 
dates in IFRS 1 relating to derecognition and day one gain 
or loss transactions have also been removed. The amen-
dments are effective in the EU for periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2013. The amendment has no impact on 
the Bank’s financial position or performance. 

IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfer of 
Financial Assets
The amendments are effective for periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2011 and were issued to improve the 
disclosure requirements relating to the transfer of finan-
cial assets. Amendments require disclosures for trans-
fers of financial assets that are derecognised in their 
entirety, as well as those that are not, to enable the user 
of the financial statements to understand the relation-
ship with those assets that have not been derecognised 
and their associated liabilities. The amendment requ-
ires retrospective application. The amendment affects 
disclosures only and has no impact on the Bank’s finan-
cial position or performance. 

Standards and interpretations issued but not 
yet effective and not early adopted
The Bank has not early adopted any standard or inter-
pretation issued but not yet effective. The Bank intends 
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to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 
become effective. 

The following new and amended standards will be 
applied in future periods as required by IFRSs and the 
European Union:

IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (amended)
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013. The amendment introduces 
common disclosure requirements. These disclosures 
would provide users with information that is useful in 
evaluating the effect or potential effect of netting arran-
gements on an entity’s financial position. The amen-
dments to IFRS 7 are to be retrospectively applied.

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
This standard replaces the part of IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements which refers to consolidated 
financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised 
in SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The stan-
dard is applicable in the EU for periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014. IFRS 10 establishes a single control 
model that applies to all entities. This will require mana-
gement to exercise significant judgment to determine 
which entities are controlled, and therefore are required 
to be consolidated by a parent. The standard also chan-
ges the definition of control. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
This standard replaces IAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures 
and SIC 13 Jointly-controlled entities – non-monetary 
contributions by venturers. The new standard addres-
ses only two forms of joint arrangements (joint operati-
ons and joint ventures), where there is joint control. IFRS 
11 uses the principle of control in IFRS 10. In addition, 
IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly-contro-
lled entities using proportionate consolidation, leaving 
only the option to use the equity method. The standard 
is effective in the EU for periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2014.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
This standard is effective in the EU for periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014 and includes disclosure requ-
irements that were previously in IAS 27 Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements related to consolidated 
financial statements, as well as all of the disclosures 
that were previously included in IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and IAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures. A number 
of new disclosures are also required, especially regarding 
judgments made to determine whether an entity con-
trols another entity.

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
The new standard is applicable for periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2013. IFRS 13 does not change when an 
entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides 
guidance on how to measure the fair value of financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities when required or 
permitted by IFRSs.

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: Presen-
tation of Items in Other Comprehensive Income
The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items 
presented in other comprehensive income. Items that 
could be reclassified to profit or loss at a future point in 
time would be presented separately from items which 
will never be reclassified. The amendments are effective 
for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

IAS 12 – Income Taxes (amended)
The amendment is effective in the EU for annual peri-
ods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. This amen-
dment concerns the determination of deferred tax 
on investment property measured at fair value and 
also incorporates SIC-21 Income Taxes – Recovery of 
Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets into IAS 12 for non-
depreciable assets measured using the revaluation 
model in IAS 16. The aim of this amendment is to 
include a) a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax 
on investment property measured using the fair value 
model in IAS 40 should be determined on the basis 
that its carrying amount will be recovered through 
sale and b) a requirement that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation 
model in IAS 16, should always be measured on a sale 
basis.

IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (amended)
In June 2011, the International Accounting Standards 
Board (the “the IASB”) issued numerous amendments 
to IAS 19. The key amendment refers to the removal of 
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the corridor mechanism for recognising changes in the 
value of defined benefit plans. This means all changes 
in the value of defined benefit plans will be recognised 
as they occur depending on the type of change either 
in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. The 
amendments are effective for periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (revised)
This revised standard was issued in May 2011 as a result 
of the new standards IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. IAS 
27 contains accounting and disclosure requirements for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associ-
ates when an entity prepares separate financial state-
ments. The standard is effective in the EU for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (revised)
This revised standard was issued in May 2011 as a result 
of the new standards IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. IAS 
28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associ-
ates and sets out the requirements for the application 
of the equity method when accounting for investments 
in associates and joint ventures. This revised standard 
is effective in the EU for periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2014.

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation 
(amended) – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities
The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014. This amendment 
clarifies the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enfor-
ceable right to set-off’ and also clarifies the application 
of the IAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement systems 
(such as central clearing house systems) which apply 
gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultane-
ous. The amendments to IAS 32 are to be retrospecti-
vely applied. Earlier application is permitted. However, 
if an entity chooses to early adopt, it must disclose that 
fact and also make the disclosures required by the IFRS 
7 – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
amendments.

In compliance with the requirements of IFRSs and 
subject to the endorsement by the European Union, the 

Bank will have to apply in future periods the following 
amended and revised standards and interpretations:

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards: Government loans (Amendment) 

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013. This amendment sets out how 
a first-time adopter would account for a government 
loan with a below-market rate of interest when they 
transition to IFRSs. Τhis amendment provides the same 
relief to first-time adopters as is granted to existing 
preparers of IFRS financial statements when applying 
IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure 
of Government Assistance. The Bank is in the process of 
assessing the impact of the amendment on the financial 
position or performance of the bank.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
The Standard replaces IAS 39. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
was published in November 2009 and contained requi-
rements for financial assets. Requirements for financial 
liabilities were added to IFRS 9 in October 2010. Most 
of the requirements for financial liabilities were carried 
forward unchanged from IAS 39. However, some chan-
ges were made to the fair value option for financial lia-
bilities. In December 2011, the IASB amended IFRS 9 to 
require application for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2015 and to not require the restatement 
of comparative-period financial statements upon initial 
application.

Phase II of IFRS 9, relating to impairment, has been in 
the process of re-deliberations from January 2011.

In September 2012, the IASB issued a review draft on 
general hedge accounting requirements (Phase III of IFRS 
9) which will be added to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Transition Guidance 
(Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12)
The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013. The IASB issued amendments 
to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities. The amendments change the transition gui-
dance to provide further relief from full retrospective 
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application. The date of initial application in IFRS 10 
is defined as ‘the beginning of the annual reporting 
period in which IFRS 10 is applied for the first time’. 
The assessment of whether control exists is made 
at ‘the date of initial application’ rather than at the 
beginning of the comparative period. If the control 
assessment is different between IFRS 10 and IAS 27/
SIC-12, retrospective adjustments should be determi-
ned. However, if the control assessment is the same, 
no retrospective applicatio is required. If more than 
one comparative period is presented, additional relief 
is given to require only one period to be restated. For 
the same reasons IASB has also amended IFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities to provide transition relief. 

The Bank is reviewing the impact of standards and inter-
pretations which are not yet mandatory and have not 
yet been endorsed by the EU and, for the time being, 
has not assessed the impact of new pronouncements 
on its financial statements. The Bank will apply new 
standards and interpretations in accordance with their 
requirements, if endorsed by the EU.

Improvements to IFRS
In May 2012, the IASB issued its annual improvements to 
IFRSs which included improvements of some of the exi-
sting standards. The effective date for the amendments is 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but 
the amendments have not been endorsed yet by the EU.

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards: Repeated 
application of IFRS 1
This amendment clarifies that an entity that stopped 
applying IFRS in the past and chooses, or is required, 
to apply IFRS again, has the option to re-apply IFRS 1. If 
IFRS 1 is not re-applied, an entity must retrospectively 
restate its financial statements as if it had never stopped 
applying IFRS (according to IAS 8). 

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards: Borrowing costs
Upon transition to IFRS, an entity will be allowed 
to retain its previously capitalised borrowing costs, 

without adjustment. After transition, borrowing costs 
are recognised in accordance with IAS 23 Borrowing 
costs. 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: 
Clarification of the requirements for 
comparative information

The amendment clarifies the difference between volu-
ntary additional comparative information and the mini-
mum required comparative information (this is generally 
the previous period information). If an entity chooses to 
voluntarily provide comparative information beyond the 
minimum required comparative period, it must include 
comparative information also in the related notes to the 
financial statements. 

Also, the amendment requires entities to present a third 
balance sheet (the opening balance sheet) (a) when 
an entity changes its accounting policies; or (b) makes 
retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications 
which have a material effect on the balance sheet. In 
such cases the entity is not required to provide suppor-
ting notes for the opening balance sheet. 

IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment: 
Classification of servicing equipment
The amendment clarifies that major spare parts and ser-
vicing equipment that meet the definition of property, 
plant and equipment are not inventory. 

IAS 32 – Financial instruments: Presentation: 
Tax effect of distributions to holders of equity 
instruments
The amendment removes existing income tax requi-
rements from IAS 32 and requires entities to apply the 
requirements in IAS 12 Income taxes to any income tax 
arising from distributions to equity holders. 

IAS 34 – Interim financial reporting: Interim 
financial reporting and segment information 
for total assets and liabilities
This amendment aligns the disclosure requirements for 
total segment assets with total segment liabilities in 
interim financial statements. It also ensures that interim 
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disclosures are aligned with annual disclosures in IFRS 8 
Operating segments.

The Bank is reviewing the impact of the improvements 
to IFRS which are not yet mandatory and have not yet 

been endorsed by the EU and, for the time being, has 
not assessed the impact of new pronouncements on its 
financial statements. The Bank will apply the improve-
ments to IFRS in accordance with their requirements, if 
endorsed by the EU.
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Banka Slovenije issued a “Regulation on risk manage-
ment and implementation of the internal capital adequ-
acy assessment process for banks and savings banks” 
(Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 135/06, 28/07, 104/07, 
85/10 and 62/11), laying down the rules on risk manage-
ment in banks. Pursuant to the Regulation, banks must 
prepare strategies for assuming and managing risks, 
thus revealing their approach to the risks they assume 
in the scope of their operations.

Strategies for assuming and managing risks must com-
prise the following:
• objectives and fundamental principles for assuming 

and managing risk,
• an approach to managing specific risks,
• an approach to implementing the internal capital 

adequacy assessment process, and
• an outline of plans with regard to significant business 

activities, as well as a description of planned changes, 
if any, in the bank’s business strategy.

The risks covered by such strategies shall comprise credit 
risk, market risks, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, opera-
tional risk, strategic risk, reputation risk, capital risk and 
profitability risk.

The bank must comply with the general risk manage-
ment standards for the following types of risks: credit 
risk, market risks, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and 
operational risk. At the same time, the bank must be 
capable of managing all other material risks assumed in 
the scope of its operations.

The bank must regularly assess its risk-bearing capa-
city. Such assessment must be documented. The bank 
must also prepare a methodology for assessing its risk-
-bearing capacity and clarify the assumptions on which 
the methodology is based. The methodology shall be 
a recurring process based on the policies adopted by 
the bank for each type of risk. Further, the bank must 
prepare a methodology for measuring and assessing 
its risk exposure, which shall be based on risk identi-
fication and assessment that takes into account the 
scope and complexity of its operations. The bank’s risk 
exposure shall be assessed in qualitative and quantita-
tive terms. Monitoring of the bank’s risk assumptions 
and assessment of its risk-bearing capacity shall be 

organised independently from the organisational units 
of the bank that assume such risks. The bank shall verify 
the appropriateness of the methodology for assessing 
its risk-bearing capacity at least once a year and at every 
significant change in its risk exposure.

The below sections deal with the bank’s exposure to 
credit risk, liquidity risk, markets risks and operational 
risk, and the manner in which the bank manages such 
risks.

3.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as potential losses due to debtors’ 
inability to meet their financial or contractual obligati-
ons in full.

Credit risk is associated with the bank activities that 
result in:
• risky balance sheet assets (due and undue loans 

regardless of maturity, investments in securities and 
long-term equity investments, discounted drafts, 
accounts receivable under finance leases, accounts 
receivable from derivatives, interest/fees/commissi-
ons accrued, accounts receivable from guarantees, 
sureties and other liabilities assumed, bank deposits 
and other items measured at amortised cost/cost/fair 
value that can be allocated to individual debtors);

• risky off-balance sheet assets (financial guarantees/
sureties/unsecured letters of credit issued and other 
similar-risk transactions that could result in a bank’s 
payment obligation).

As regards credit risk, the bank uses the standardised 
approach to calculating the capital requirement for cre-
dit risk. In case of collateralised transactions, it uses the 
comprehensive approach.

In accordance with its guidelines for the organisation 
of its credit function, execution of loan transactions 
and credit risk management, as well as with its internal 
organisational rules, the bank ensures a clear separation 
of competences between the commercial unit and credit 
risk management unit on the one hand and between the 
commercial unit and back office on the other hand, also 
at managerial level.

3. Risk management
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Said guidelines applying to credit risk management, 
as well as the rules of procedure applying to the cre-
dit committee, lay down a clear and consistent decisi-
on-making structure for the loan approval procedure. 
The term credit (or loan) covers all transactions bearing 
credit risk.

Any loan approval decision must be agreed between the 
commercial unit and the credit risk management unit, 
taking into account the complexity and risk of the tran-
saction. Impairment- and provision-related decisions are 
not within the competence of the commercial unit.

The bank regularly reviews its credit portfolio and also 
estimates future trends. The results of such reviews 
serve the bank when preparing and assessing strategies 
and policies for assuming and managing risks.

Close loan monitoring and bad loan handling
The bank uses a set of criteria when deciding whether 
a debtor/exposure requires close monitoring. Debtors/
exposures requiring close monitoring are regularly 
reviewed to decide their future tretament. If they meet 
certain criteria, they are handed over to the bad loan 
collection unit. Otherwise, the bank may also decide 
to restructure the exposure: a restructuring plan is 
then prepared, implemented and monitored. If a ban-
kruptcy procedure is initiated against a debtor, the 
bank involves its own experts and/or external experts 
in the collateral recovery process, if the exposure is 
collateralised.

Early identification of upward changes in credit 
risk
The bank has a process in place for early identification of 
upward changes in credit risk associated with individual 
debtors. In this process, it uses qualitative and quanti-
tative indicators.

Debtor/exposure rating process
For the purpose of credit risk assessment, the bank uses 
a debtor/exposure rating process. Within said process, 
debtors/exposures are classified into credit rating classes 
and/or groups. The bank regularly monitors and assesses 
its rating process, as well as impairment- and provisi-
on-related decisions, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The bank classifies its 
debtors based on the assessment and valuation of their 
ability to meet their obligations to the bank, as well as 
based on collateral provided.

When classifying its debtors into rating groups, the bank 
uses its policy for assessing credit risk losses, which is in 
accordance with the central bank’s “Regulation on the 
assessment of credit risk losses of banks and savings 
banks”, as well as with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Non-performing loans are loans to clients 
who have defaulted on their payments (payments 
delayed by more than 90 days, restructuring, compul-
sory settlement or bankruptcy etc.)

The bank assesses individually significant financial assets 
or commitments including off-balance sheet items, as 
specified by the central bank and its internal policies. If 
such assessment reveals that a loss could arise from such 
significant financial assets or commitments including 
off-balance sheet items, the bank must recognise an 
impairment loss both in its statement of financial posi-
tion and its income statement. If individual impairment 
or provisioning is not required, the bank then calculates 
a collective impairment loss or provision using a certain 
prescribed percentage.

Concentration risk identification and 
measurement
The bank has appropriate methodologies in place for 
identifying and measuring concentration risk.
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Exposure to credit risk as at 31 December
thousand EUR

Loans and advances  
to non-banks

Loans and advances  
to banks Securities Total

 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

1 Loans and advances: 
impaired

a) Individually impaired:

 Gross amount 161,239 113,522 161,239 113,522

 Impairment amount 14,054 9,039 14,054 9,039

 Net amount 147,186 104,483 147,186 104,483

b) Collectively impaired:     

 Grade B 100,444 146,388   100,444 146,388

 Grade C 2,653 3,900   2,653 3,900

 Grade D 2,479 2,348   2,479 2,348

 Grade E 8,974 9,043   8,974 9,043

 Gross amount 114,551 161,679   114,551 161,679

 Impairment amount 8,679 11,862   8,679 11,862

 Net amount 105,871 149,816   105,871 149,816

2 Loans and advances: past 
due, not impaired

a) Total loans and  
advances past due:   

 Gross amount 16,630 5,203   16,630 5,203

 Net amount 16,630 5,203   16,630 5,203

b) Loans and advances  
by days past due:     

 30-60 days 16,630 5,155   16,630 5,155

 60-90 days - -   - -

 90-180 days - -   - -

 180 days + - 48   - 48

3 Loans and advances: not 
past due, not impaired 
 Gross amount 695,964 571,865 64,516 14,028 129,739 78,428 890,219 664,322

 Collective impairment amount  5,623 3,273   5,623 3,273

 Net amount 690,341 568,593 64,516 14,028 129,739 78,428 884,596 661,049
Total gross amount  
of loans and advances 988,384 852,269  64,516 14,028 129,739 78,428 1,182,638 944,726

Total net amount  
of loans and advances 960,028 828,095 64,516 14,028 129,739 78,428 1,154,282 920,552

Source: »RAZ 1« report as at 31 December 2011 and 2012, and internal reports on loans and advances overdue.

In the column Securites we include categories available-
for-sale and hold-to-maturity.



57SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2012

Loans and advances by collateral submitted as at 31 December
thousand EUR

Loans and advances to non-banks Loans and advances to banks

Collateral type 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Individual impairment     

Property 130,816  87,489 - - 

First-class collateral 14,213  15,958 

Shares 2,567  1,999 

Other 1,497  1,595 - - 

Collective impairment  - - 

Property 92,663 118,634 - - 

First-class collateral 1,955  1,670 

Shares 4,441  7,238 - - 

Other 3,049  11,759 - - 

Past due, not impaired  - - 

Property 21,115  4,878 - - 

First-class collateral - - 

Shares -  4 - - 

Other 245  236 - - 

Not past due, not impaired  - - 

Property 434,552 407,636 - - 

First-class collateral 16,579  15,516 

Shares 14,350  12,053 - - 

Other 69,935  42,967 - - 

Without collateral 152,444  98,463  64,516 14,028 

Without collateral, not past due 134,037  75,182  64,516 14,028 

Without collateral, past due     

 Individual impairment 7,265  3,940 -  - 

 Collective impairment 11,142  19,341 -  - 

TOTAL 960,028 828,095  64,516  14,028 
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Credit risk by sector and geographic area as at 31 December
thousand EUR

Loans and advances to non-banks Loans and advances to banks

 2012 2011 2012 2011

TOTAL 960,028 828,095  64,516 14,028

   

SECTOR    

Companies 739,518 601,133 - -

Municipalities  3,796  2,871 - -

Banks - -  64,516  14,028 

Households 216,714 224,091 - -

  

GEOGRAPHIC AREA   

Slovenia 925,858 790,974 - -

Austria - -  1,904  7,452 

CEE  33,305  36,253  23,828  5,041 

Other  865  868  38,784  1,535 

thousand EUR

 Available-for-sale financial assets

 2012 2011

Total 121,667  70,935 

 

SECTOR  

Companies 20  14 

State 71,729  70,922 

Banks 49,918 

GEOGRAPHIC AREA  

Slovenia 81,660  51,089 

Austria  -  9,755 

CEE 40,004 - 

Other 3  10,092 
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3.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as potential losses due to the 
bank’s inability to meet its obligations or the ability to 
meet them only by incurring significantly higher costs 
than the usual costs. Liquidity risk includes also the situ-
ation when the bank cannot sell or substitute a posi-
tion within a short time. Liquidity is the bank’s ability to 
sustain a decrease in deposits, meet its obligations and 
increase financial assets.

Liquidity risk is closely connected with other bank risks 
(such as credit, interest rate and currency risks), and 
usually arises from one of the bank’s most important 
functions, i.e. the transformation of short-term deposits 
into long-term financial assets. Liquidity is an important 
component of banking operations, as it balances the 
expected and unexpected balance sheet fluctuations, 
as well as ensures growth.

The bank must at all times ensure adequate liquidity by 
matching its actual and potential sources of liquidity 
with its actual and potential usage of liquidity. Taking 
into account its specifics and level of risk assumed, the 
bank identifies, measures, manages and monitors liqui-
dity risk, thus ensuring ongoing and timely settlement of 
its liabilities. Due to its specifics, the bank strives to meet 
relatively high liquidity ratios, whereby it uses the credit 
lines made available by the banking group, and builds up 
liquidity buffers to overcome stress situations. Liquidity 
buffers represent available liquidity without any additi-
onal measures being required.

The bank’s guidelines applying to liquidity risk manage-
ment comprise also measures aimed at preventing or 
eliminating causes for illiquidity. The bank regularly revi-
ews the correctness and appropriateness of assumpti-
ons on which its liquidity management policy is based. 
The bank uses several liquidity management scenarios 
for the purpose of monitoring liquidity risk and ensuring 
an adequate liquidity position. Based on such scenarios, 
the bank determines measures to be adopted for the 
purpose of ensuring an adequate liquidity position in 
the normal course of business (basic scenario), as well 
as in emergency liquidity situations (stress scenario). The 
bank regularly reviews the correctness of assumptions 
on which its liquidity management scenarios are based.

To ensure an adequate liquidity position, the bank iden-
tifies, measures, manages and monitors liquidity risk by 
means of:
• planning of actual and potential cash inflows in view of 

cash outflows, and assessing the liquidity risk by cal-
culating the liquidity ratio and liquidity buffers to cover 
overdue liabilities in the normal course of business and 
in emergency liquidity situations;

• ensuring an amount of liquid assets or other sources 
of liquidity that are appropriate in view of the liquidity 
risk;

• monitoring the appropriateness of the structure of 
assets and their sources;

• assessing liquidity risk in specific currencies, if this 
represents a significant exposure;

• calculating liquidity ratios and defining limits for liqu-
idity risk exposure;

• calculating liquidity buffers to cover overdue liabilities 
in the normal course of business and in emergency 
liquidity situations, as well as defining limits for liqui-
dity risk exposure;

• adopting a plan to be used during a possible liquidity 
crisis.

The bank prepared a crisis plan, which is being regu-
larly tested and comprises measures aimed at preven-
ting or eliminating causes for liquidity crises, measures 
aimed at overcoming and limiting the consequences 
of occasional or prolonged liquidity crises, as well as 
measures aimed at re-establishing a normal liquidity 
situation.

The bank calculates its liquidity ratios in accordance 
with the central bank’s “Regulation on the minimum 
requirements for ensuring an adequate liquidity posi-
tion”. In accordance with point 2 of the Regulation, the 
bank calculates the liquidity ratio, which is defined as the 
ratio of total assets (in local and foreign currencies) to 
total liabilities (in local and foreign currencies), for two 
categories of financial assets and liabilities: those with 
a residual maturity of up to 30 days (category one), and 
those with a residual maturity of up to 180 days (cate-
gory two). The bank calculates both ratios on a daily 
basis for the previous business day. Category one ratio 
must be at least 1, while category two ratio has an infor-
mative nature only.
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In the spring of 2012, the bank started preparations for 
the gradual compliance with the requirements of Banka 
Slovenije regarding lower weights for the raised credit 
lines and undrawn loans. On 1 October 2012, the bank 

started to include 75% of said items in the calculation of 
liquidity ratios. The bank compensated for the lost liqu-
idity by increasing secondary liquidity, which is eligible 
as collateral within the Eurosystem.

Liquidity ratios for 2012, 2011 and 2010

  2012 2011 2010

31 December 1.56 2.58 1.58

Average for the period 1.84 2.02 1.78

Maximum value 2.79 3.05 2.13

Minimum value 1.15 1.55 1.57

The bank also calculates liquidity buffers required to 
cover overdue liabilities in the normal course of busi-
ness and in emergency liquidity situations, in accordance 
with the central bank’s “Regulation on the calculation 
of capital requirements for credit risk under the inter-
nal ratings-based approach” and the Committee of 

European Banking Supervisors’ guidelines. Cash-flows 
are expected based on agreed, planned and expected 
business events. Liquidity shortfalls are compared with 
liquidity buffers in different time horizons (within one 
year) in the normal course of business (basic scenario) 
and in emergency liquidity situations (stress scenario).

Maturity of undiscounted cash flows

31 December 2012
thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross  
amount

On  
demand

 Up to  
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Up to 
5 years

Over 
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 602,559 631,250 82,633 119,581 43,983 358,008 27,045

Amounts owed to 
non-banks 593,491 594,343 197,557 222,944 131,330 41,496 1,016

Subordinated liabilities 18,946 23,450 0 183 10,595 2,702 9,970

Derivatives (credit/debit) 2,216 2,216 0 15 434 1,768 0

Unused credit lines 74,095 74,095 74,095 0 0 0 0

At year-end 2012, the bank did not have any financial 
guarantees issued.
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31 December 2011
thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross  
amount

On  
demand

 Up to  
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Up to 
5 years

Over 
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 504,354 561,685 256 34,250 97,840 184,525 244,814

Amounts owed to 
non-banks 404,816 410,970 166,707 105,664 95,559 42,817 223

Subordinated liabilities 28,377 33,847 0 145 436 12,546 20,720

Derivatives (credit/debit) 1,231 1,518 0 380 69 218 851

Unused credit lines 51,426 51,426 51,426 0 0 0 0

At year-end 2011, the bank did not have any financial 
guarantees issued.

Financial position structure by maturity
31 December 2012

thousand EUR

On  
demand 

Up to   
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Total up to 
12 months

Up to  
5 years 

Over 
5 years

Total  
over 1 year  Total 

Cash and cash balances 
with central banks 165,503 828 0 166,331 0 0 0 166,331

Loans and receivables to 
banks 5,701 58,515 0 64,216 0 300 300 64,516

Loans and receivables to 
non-bank customer 56,580 69,487 196,712 322,780 370,619 266,629 637,248 960,028

Available-for-sale  
financial assets 0 0 0 0 35,361 86,307 121,667 121,667

Held-to maturity 
investments 0 0 0 0 1,009 7,062 8,071 8,071

Other assets 0 0 2,436 2,436 13,972 879 14,851 17,287

Total assets 227,784 128,830 199,148 555,762 420,961 361,176 782,138 1,337,899

Deposits and loans  
from banks 82,632 117,802 39,906 240,341 338,525 23,693 362,218 602,559

Deposits and loans from 
non-bank customers 197,552 225,721 130,071 553,344 39,173 975 40,147 593,491

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 10,045 10,045 0 8,901 8,901 18,946

Other liabilities 0 3,308 0 3,308 0 770 770 4,078

Equity 0 0 0 0 0 118,825 118,825 118,825

Total liabilities 280,185 346,831 180,022 807,038 377,697 153,164 530,861 1,337,899
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31 December 2011

thousand EUR

On  
demand 

Up to   
3 months

Up to  
12 months

Total up to  
12 months

Up to  
5 years 

Over 
5 years

Total  
over 1 year  Total 

Cash and cash balances 
with central banks 21,858 58,003 0 79,860 0 0 0 79,860

Loans and receivables  
to banks 9,030 4,998 0 14,028 0 0 0 14,028

Loans and receivables  
to non-bank customer 38,712 50,047 213,943 302,702 289,387 236,005 525,393 828,095

Available-for-sale  
financial assets 0 0 0 0 53,439 17,496 70,936 70,936

Held-to maturity 
investments 0 0 0 0 4,411 3,082 7,493 7,493

Other assets 0 0 2,081 2,081 9,637 1,116 10,752 12,833

Total assets 69,600 113,048 216,024 398,672 356,874 257,699 614,574 1,013,245

Deposits and loans  
from banks 256 31,607 89,976 121,839 145,531 236,984 382,514 504,354

Deposits and loans from 
non-bank customers 166,701 105,271 93,436 365,408 39,217 191 39,408 404,816

Subordinated liabilities 0 77 0 77 10,000 18,300 28,300 28,377

Other liabilities 0 4,208 0 4,208 0 677 677 4,885

Equity 0 0 0 0 0 70,813 70,813 70,813

Total liabilities 166,957 141,163 183,412 491,532 194,748 326,965 521,713 1,013,245

3.3 Market risks
Market risk is defined as potential losses due to unfavo-
urable changes in market variables (price, interest rate, 
exchange rate). Market risk comprises:
•  position risk, which is defined as potential losses 

due to changes in prices of debt instruments, equity 
instruments, derivative financial instruments or com-
modities. The level of position risk depends on price 
volatility of financial instruments, as well as on the 
bank’s portfolio of financial instruments – its struc-
ture and liquidity;

• interest rate risk, which is defined as potential losses 
due to unfavourable interest rate movements. Interest 
rate movements have a significant effect on the bank’s 
income and expenses;

• currency risk, which is defined as potential losses due 
to unfavourable exchange rate movements. The level 
of currency risk depends on the open foreign currency 
position, exchange rate volatility and foreign exchange 
market liquidity.

In accordance with the parent bank’s rules and the 
central bank’s “Regulation on the calculation of capi-
tal requirement for market risks for banks and savings 
banks”, the bank is a non-trading bank or a bank with 
a trading book position that normally does not exceed 
EUR 15 million and never exceeds EUR 20 million.

The main objective of the bank is to ensure close cur-
rency matching of on- and off-balance sheet items on 
the assets and liabilities sides while consistently keeping 
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within the prescribed maximum net open foreign cur-
rency position in all currencies and in each currency.

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest risk 
management is to have a low interest rate risk exposure.

The bank clearly separates the trading unit and back 
office, both in operational and organisational terms, also 
at managerial level. Operational separation of the tra-
ding unit from its back office requires the bank to have 
appropriate safety and work processes and IT system 
access rules in place, as well as to have the two units 
physically separated.

3.3.1 Currency risk

Sberbank banka d.d. monitors its currency risk in accor-
dance with the requirements of its parent bank, trying to 
optimise the balance sheet structure within the prescri-
bed limits. The main objective of the bank is to ensure 
close currency matching of on- and off-balance sheet 
items on the assets and liabilities sides while consis-
tently complying with the maximum net open foreign 
currency position in all currencies and in each currency.

Following a proposal by its asset/liability management 
committee and with the agreement of the Group, the 
bank may decide to have a strategic open foreign cur-
rency position outside the normal limits.

The bank’s currency risk mainly arises from:
• prompt closing of only major client transactions or cli-

ent transactions that would cause the bank to exceed 
the maximum net open foreign currency position, as 
closing of smaller client transactions on a transacti-
on-by-transaction basis would be cost-inefficient in 

all circumstances except for those of high exchange 
rate volatility;

• bank’s own position, i.e. its own account trading;
• transactions with a foreign exchange (mainly CHF) 

indexation clause, the prompt closing of which is not 
possible due to limited liquidity.

In accordance with the central bank’s “Decree for the 
calculation of net open foreign exchange position”, the 
bank treats assets/liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency and those with a foreign exchange indexation 
clause equally, i.e. as foreign currency-denominated. To 
calculate the net open position by currency, the bank 
sums separately all long positions in a currency and 
all short positions in a currency. The higher of the two 
totals is the bank’s net open position in that currency 
and thus also the basis for the calculation of capital 
requirements for currency risk. Currency risk (net open 
foreign currency position) is monitored by the treasury 
and by the risk-controlling unit: the first also manages 
currency risk and the latter also reports about it. The 
treasury unit monitors such position based on real-time 
data, while the risk-controlling unit monitors it based on 
bookkeeping data, which it compares against the trea-
sury unit’s real-time data.

In managing currency risk, the bank takes into account 
the limits prescribed by the parent bank. The central 
bank limits currency risk only indirectly, namely with 
capital requirements for currency risk. The bank itself 
may at any time adopt even stricter limits. Under its cur-
rent methodology, the total net open foreign currency 
position is defined as the higher of the totals of its (a) 
long and (b) short positions, whereby the bank treats 
in the same manner assets/liabilities denominated in 
a foreign currency and those with a foreign exchange 
indexation clause.
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Financial position structure by foreign exchange risk
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2011 31 Dec 2010

ASSETS 1,337,899 1,013,245

 - EUR 1,247,954 910,584

 - EUR with foreign currency indexation clause 32,200 36,681

 - foreign currencies 57,745 65,980

LIABILITIES 1,337,899 1,013,245

 - EUR 1,201,781 886,136

 - EUR with foreign currency indexation clause 0 0

 - foreign currencies 136,118 127,110

3.3.2 Interest rate risk

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest 
rate risk management is to have a low interest rate risk 
exposure. This strategy is reflected in the bank’s decisio-
n-making and monitoring systems in the field of interest 
rate risk.

To assess interest rate risk, the bank assesses the fol-
lowing sources of this risk:
• the risk arising from maturity mismatch of the bank’s 

assets and liabilities that are interest rate-sensitive 
(re-pricing risk);

• the risk of changes in the slope and shape of the yield 
curve, which can affect the bank’s income or the 
underlying economic value (yield curve risk);

• the risk arising from the imperfect correlation between 
interest rates applying to different instruments with 
otherwise similar re-pricing characteristics (basis risk);

• the risk arising from the options embedded in many of 
the bank’s assets and liabilities that are interest rate-
sensitive. Formally, an option provides the holder the 
right, but not the obligation, to buy, sell, or repay/
withdraw early such interest rate-sensitive items.

The bank measures its interest rate exposure by esti-
mating the changes in economic value of its capital. 
The calculation is based on the interest rate gap report, 
on the estimated impact on profit and on the estima-
ted basis risk. This is done on a monthly basis, when a 
report for the asset/liability management committee is 
prepared. This committee is responsible for controlling 
the interest rate risk and for making decisions about 
the level of interest rate risk assumed. Interest rate 
risk exposure and measurement, as well as appropri-
ate measures to be adopted if necessary, are laid down 
in the bank’s guidelines applying to interest rate risk 
management.

The asset/liability management committee is responsi-
ble for controlling the interest rate risk and for making 
decisions about the level of interest rate risk assumed. It 
approves the bank’s policy based mainly on variable-rate 
instruments, as well as decides on measures to be taken 
in the case of an excess exposure to the interest rate 
risk. The bank’s own limits applying to its interest rate 
exposure are determined together with the parent bank. 
Before launching a new product, the bank also checks its 
effect on the interest rate risk.
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Sensitivity analysis of capital 
thousand EUR

increase by 100 bp decrease by 100 bp

2012   

31 December 1,299 -1,299

Average for the period 1,144 -1,144

Maximum for the period 2,261 -2,261

Minimum for the period 216 -216

   

2011   

31 December 1,947 -1,947

Average for the period 1,577 -1,577

Maximum for the period 2,705 -2,705

Minimum for the period 759 -759

Sensitivity anaylsis of income statement
thousand EUR

increase by 100 bp decrease by 100 bp

2012   

31 December 964 -964

Average for the period 1,485 -1,485

Maximum for the period 2,896 -2,896

Minimum for the period 427 -427

  

2011   

31 December 2,274 -2,274

Average for the period 1,148 -1,148

Maximum for the period 2,274 -2,274

Minimum for the period -69 69
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Exposure to interest rate risk

31 December 2012
thousand EUR

Total At sight
Up to 

3 months
Up to 
1 year

Up to 
5 years

Over 
5 years

Cash and balances with central bank 166,331 165,503 828 0 0 0

Loans to banks 64,516 5,701 58,815 0 0 0

Loans and advances to non-banks 960,028 3,881 615,527 326,649 11,110 2,862

Available-for-sale financial assets 121,667 0 0 0 86,695 34,972

Held-to-maturity financial assets 8,071 0 1,009 7,062

Loans and deposits from banks 602,559 82,632 376,399 118,345 25,182 0

Deposits from non-banks 593,491 195,552 227,873 131,247 38,553 266

Subordinated liabilities 18,946 196 0 10,000 0 8,750

31 December 2011

thousand EUR

Total At sight
Up to 

3 months
Up to 
1 year

Up to 
5 years

Over 
5 years

Cash and balances with central bank 79,860 21,858 58,003 0 0 0

Loans to banks 14,028 9,030 4,998 0 0 0

Loans and advances to non-banks 828,095 3,107 632,365 187,130 4,733 760

Available-for-sale financial assets 70,935 14 0 0 53,425 17,496

Held-to-maturity financial assets 7,493 0 4,411 3,082

Loans and deposits from banks 504,354 256 362,589 138,989 2,519 0

Deposits from non-banks 404,816 166,703 105,583 93,436 39,005 89

Subordinated liabilities 28,377 0 18,377 10,000 0 0
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3.4 Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as potential losses due to the 
following: 
• inappropriateness or incorrect implementation of the 

bank’s internal processes;
• other inappropriate acts of the bank’s employees;
• inappropriateness or incorrect functioning of the 

bank’s internal systems;
• external events or acts. 

Operational risk also includes:
• information technology risk, which is defined as 

potential losses due to inappropriate IT technology 
and processing, mainly in terms of manageability, 
accesses, integration, control and continuity; 

• legal risk, which is defined as potential losses due to 
non-compliance with or improper application of laws, 
executive acts, instructions, recommendations, con-
tracts, good banking practice or ethical norms.

The most important factors affecting the operational risk 
are:
• people: their culture, ethics, motivation, knowledge, 

skills, etc.;
• processes: their design, implementation, clarity, 

appropriateness, controls, objectives, communication;
• systems: their appropriateness, safety, availability, etc.;
• environment: any undesired or unexpected changes, 

crime, accidents, extraordinary events.

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of operatio-
nal risk management is to minimise potential and actual 
operational losses. The bank’s Management Board is 
expected to adopt an active approach to operational 
risk management, which includes raising awareness of 
such risk within the bank, promoting transparency, and 
evidencing of actual and potential losses.

As regards capital requirements for operational risk, the 
bank uses the standardised approach.

Using the loss events database, the bank analyses the 
causes of actual material losses arising from operational 
risk. It also uses, at least once a year, Risk Mapping and 
Risk & Control Self Assessment to identify and assess 
possible material operational risk. The bank monthly 
controls the Key Risk Indicators, which showed a low 
and acceptable level in 2012. The definition of the term 
“major losses arising from operational risk” is laid down in 
the guidelines applying to operational risk management.

Any major losses and exposures associated with ope-
rational risk are reported to the bank’s higher mana-
gement, including the bank’s Management Board. The 
latter decides what additional measures, if any, should 
be taken to manage operational risk, as well as the 
deadlines and persons responsible. Implementation of 
such measures is then monitored by the risk-controlling 
unit.

Losses arising from operational risk events in 2012 were 
EUR 284,185. After compensations from insurers and 
other reductions, their net effect on the income sta-
tement was EUR 55,938. After another compensation 
received from an insurer in February 2013 (but related 
to an event occurred 2012) of EUR 43,500, the final net 
effect was EUR 12,438, which is only 4.38% of the gross 
amount.

Implementation and documentation of internal con-
trols is a part of operational risk management. This is 
done with the integrated BART tool used for operational 
risk identification, assessment, analysis, monitoring and 
reporting. Internal controls are defined in great detail 
by the responsible heads of divisions/services who rece-
ive automatic reminders at specified intervals to check 
whether and how such internal controls are carried out 
by their subordinates. There are 46 management con-
trols covering all important bank processes. They are 
performed periodically, as required. In 2012, they were 
performed 119 times (compared to 121 planned, this 
represents an 98.35% achievement of the plan).
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3.5 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
thousand EUR

      31 Dec 2012       31 Dec 2011

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Loans and advances to banks 64,516 64,516 14,028 14,028

Loans and advances to non-banks 960,028 960,028 828,095 828,095

 Short-term 104,431 104,431 106,507 106,507

 Long-term 855,597 856,201 721,588 721,398

    

Available-for-sale financial assets 121,667 121,667 70,935 70,935

Held-to-maturity financial assets 8,071 7,877 7,493 7,226

    

Deposits from banks 200,229 200,229 33,049 33,049

Loans from banks 377,148 377,148 471,305 471,305

Deposits from non-banks 589,930 589,930 404,816 404,816

In 2012, the fair value of long-term loans was above their 
carrying amount. This is explained with the decline in 
market interest rates: e.g., the three-month Euribor was 
1.38% at year-end 2011, and 0.18% at year-end 2012 (down 

by 1.2 percentage points). Consequently, the fair value of 
long-term loans with a fixed interest rate increased and 
was above their carrying amount as at year-end 2012.
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Fair value hiearchy as at 31 December 2012
thousands EUR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets held for trading  2,231  2,231

Loans and receivables    0

Available-for-sale financial assets 121,667  121,667

Total fair value assets 121,667 2,231 0 123,898

Financial liabilities held for trading 2,216 2,216

Derivatives – hedge accounting

Total fair value liabilities 0 2,216 0 2,216

Fair value hiearchy as at 31 December 2011
thousands EUR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets held for trading  806  806

Loans and receivables    0

Available-for-sale financial assets 70,935  70,935

Total fair value assets 70,935 806 0 71,741

Financial liabilities held for trading  1,231  1,231

Derivatives – hedge accounting

Total fair value liabilities 0 1,231 0 1,231

In accordance with IFRS 7, the bank classified the fair 
value measurements in the following levels of fair value 
hierarchy:

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets and liabilities;

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included wit-
hin Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e., as prices on less active markets) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from quoted prices and prices on 
less active markets);

Level 3 – investments where fair value is determined on 
the basis of valuation models which take into account 
subjective variables which are not publicly available to 
the markets.

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 in 
2012 and 2011.
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3.6 Capital management
The bank must at all times ensure adequate capital 
in respect of the size and type of services it provides 
and in respect of risks to which it is exposed thereby, 
in accordance with the central bank’s regulations. For 
this purpose, the bank has prepared internal monitoring 
processes to ensure that its capital complies with all sta-
tutory requirements. By regularly monitoring its capital 
amount, capital requirements and capital adequacy, the 
bank ensures the following:
• that its original own funds always amount to at least 

50% of its total capital, and that the subordinated 
loan capital included in additional own funds does 
not exceed 50% of its original own funds (and that if it 
does, the excessive amount is not used to cover capital 
requirements);

• that its capital always at least equals the sum of capi-
tal requirements under the first pillar of Basel II (asso-
ciated with credit, market and operational risks) and 
the second pillar of Basel II within the ICAAP process;

• that the ratio of regulatory capital to capital require-
ments under the first pillar always amounts to at least 
131% (with the capital adequacy ratio being 10.5%);

• that the capital adequacy ratio of internal capital 
(regulatory capital + profit for the year) to capital 
requirements under the second pillar always amou-
nts to at least 8%;

• that the ratio of Tier 1 capital to capital requirements 
under the first pillar always amounts to at least 105% 
(with the capital adequacy ratio Tier 1 being 8.4%);

• that the structure of its operations is optimal in 
respect of the level of risk assumed and the profita-
bility required;

• that its claims are secured by collateral that reduces 
the risk level and at the same time guarantees debt 
repayment within the shortest time possible.

The bank regularly reports to the central bank and to the 
parent bank (in accordance with the Group’s guidelines) 
on its compliance with the capital adequacy and capital 

requirements regulations. Once a year (upon prepara-
tion of the annual business plan), the bank also prepares 
a plan aimed at maintaining adequate capital in view of 
the size and type of services it provides and in respect of 
risks to which it is exposed thereby. This plan also allows 
the bank to obtain capital in the market when the con-
ditions are most favourable.

Said plan aimed at maintaining an adequate amount of 
capital comprises:
• one-year-ahead projections of capital requirements 

and bank’s position, based on the relevant business 
plan;

• a projection of the largest scope of its operations 
based on capital projection;

• the amount, quality and sources of additional capital, 
if needed;

• an assessment of availability of external sources of 
capital;

• an assessment of financial consequences of a possible 
increase in capital;

• the effects on capital of possible changes in the bank’s 
business, operational and financial position;

• an overview by maturity of debt and hybrid instru-
ments acquired.

The factors that might affect the bank’s need for additi-
onal capital are the following:
• legislation/regulatory changes;
• an increase in the capital adequacy level by the central 

bank;
• an increase in the on- and off-balance sheet transa-

ctions;
• an increase in capital requirements for operational risk;
• an increase in capital requirements associated with 

the ICAAP process;
• an increase in the required financing of individual 

debtors;
• changes in the structure of risks assumed by the bank;
• possible losses from operations; and
• changes in the dividend policy.
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Capital adequacy as at 31 December
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

CORE CAPITAL (TIER I) 119,265 74,024

Subscribed capital 88,140 43,140

Capital reserves 27,248 27,248

Deductions from tier I:

 Reserves and retained earnings 4,219 4,063

 Intangible assets -342 -427

 Revaluation reserves 0 0

ADDITIONAL CAPITAL (TIER II) 8,750 20,300

Hybrid instruments and cumulative preference shares 0 6,000

Subordinated loan 8,750 14,300

DEDUCTIONS FROM TIER I AND TIER II 0 0

Investments in other credit or financial institutions (exceeding 10% of their capital) 0 0

BANK'S OWN FUNDS (for solvency purposes) 128,015 94,324

RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS (on- and off-balance sheet items)

Capital requirement for credit risk (standardised approach) 77,235 61,565

Regional governments or local authorities 53 44

Public sector entities 248 0

Institutions 3,409 525

Corporates 43,261 33,579

Retail 16,008 16,631

Secured by real estate property 1,801 2,111

Past due items 6,753 5,034

Items belonging to regulatory high-risk categories 4,519 2,649

Other items 1,183 992

Capital requirement for operational risk (standardised approach) 3,002 2,820

Total capital requirement 80,237 64,385

Solvency ratio (%): bank's own funds / (total capital requirement / 0.08) 12.76% 11.72%
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4. Cash and balances with central bank
thousand EUR

       31 Dec 2012        31 Dec 2011

EUR foreign currencies EUR foreign currencies

Cash on hand 2,561 781 3,252 604

Deposits with central bank 162,989 0 76,004 0

Total 165,550 781 79,256 604

Total (EUR and foreign currencies)         166,331         79,860

Deposits with central bank relate to balances in the 
settlement account (EUR 162,161 thousand) and in 
other accounts opened with the central bank (EUR 828 
thousand).

The bank’s obligatory reserve requirement was EUR 
4,146,446 on average in 2012 (2011: EUR 6,921,775).

5. Financial assets held for trading
thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Exchange rate related transactions 125 136

Interest rate related transactions 2,095 670

Others 11 0

Financial assets held for trading 2,231 806

6.  Available-for-sale financial assets – non-
marketable and marketable

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

 Equity securities: non-marketable 20 14

 Debt securities: marketable 121,647 70,921

TOTAL 121,647 70,935
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As at year-end 2012, the bank had EUR 53,542,222.90 
of first-class securities placed with Banka Slovenije to 
secure payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s 
secondary liquidity. As at year-end 2012, the bank 
had EUR 2.5 million pledged to secure SEPA payment 
transactions.

As at year-end 2011, the bank had EUR 58,546,447.02 
of first-class securities placed with Banka Slovenije to 
secure payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s 
secondary liquidity.

6.1 Shares and interests at cost – non-marketable
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Bankart, d.o.o., Ljubljana 11 11

SWIFT Belgium 3 3

Credit bureau SISBON, Ljubljana 6 0

TOTAL 20 14

6.2 Available-for-sale debt securities – marketable

Structure by issuer
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

  Bonds issued by the Republic of Slovenia 71,729 70,921

  Bonds issued by local banks 9,915 0

  Bonds issued by foreign banks 40,004 0

Total available-for-sale debt securities 121,647 70,921

Structure by listed-unlisted
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Listed 121,647 70,921

  Bonds 121,647 70,921

  Other 0 0

Total 121,647 70,921
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Fair value measurement
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Cost 120,020 73,514

Interest (receivables, accruals) 2,570 1,954

Change in fair value -943 -4,547

Carrying amount 121,647 70,921

7. Loans
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

- debt securities 0 0

- loans to banks 64,516 14,028

- loans to non-banks 960,028 828,095

- advances 4,879 1,038

TOTAL 1,029,422 843,162

7.1 Debt securities

In 2012, bank did not have debt securities which would 
classify as loans.

7.2 Loans to banks

Structure by maturity
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Repayable on demand 8,183 9,028

EUR 1,547 1,131

Foreign currencies 6,635 7,896

Short-term 55,013 5,000

EUR 55,013 5,000

Long-term 0 0

EUR 1,320 0

Total loans to banks 1,320 14,028
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Structure by geographic area
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Slovenia 0 0

Other countries 64,516 14,028

TOTAL 64,516 14,028

7.3 Loans to non-banks

Structure by client
thousand EUR

      31 Dec 2012     31 Dec 2011

Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

EUR 108,847 825,546 110,300 682,435

 - non-financial companies 94,657 602,871 95,638 453,172

 - households 3,969 181,352 4,633 184,858

 - non-residents 2,550 31,917 2,547 34,684

 - other financial organisations 7,353 5,331 7,250 5,380

 - the state 107 3,198 204 3,189

 - non-profit service providers 211 877 26 1,153

Foreign currencies 790 53,201 843 58,694

 - households 49 33,839 49 36,597

 - non-financial companies 741 18,867 794 21,320

 - the state 0 495 0 776

Allowances -5,207 -23,149 -4,635 -19,540

Total 104,430 855,598 106,507 721,588

Total loans to non-banks      960,028      828,095
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Structure by sector
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Non-financial companies 717,136 570,924

The state 3,800 4,169

Other financial organisations 12,684 12,631

Households 219,209 226,138

Non-profit service providers 1,087 1,178

Non-residents 34,466 37,231

Allowances -28,356 -24,175

Total 960,028 828,095

First-class collateral

First-class collateral as at year-end 2012 by loan risk 
grade:

thousand EUR

A B C D E P Total

Bank deposits 9,386 819 17 0 0 13,813 24,035

Guarantees from the government 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees from first-class foreign banks 6,186 775 0 0 0 234 7,195

Securities from first-class banks 189 0 0 0 0 0 189

Total 15,761 1,594 17 0 0 14,047 31,419

First-class collateral as at year-end 2011 by loan risk 
grade:

thousand EUR

A B C D E P Total

Bank deposits 12,161 802 8 0 0 15,958 28,929

Guarantees from the government 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees from first-class foreign banks 991 0 0 0 0 0 991

Securities from first-class banks 3,899 1,000 0 0 0 0 4,899

Total 17,051 1,802 8 0 0 15,958 34,819
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Eligible collateral – mortgage

As at 31 December 2012, the bank had EUR 679,146 thou-
sand of loans insured by means of mortgages in its gross 
loan portfolio.

As at 31 December 2011, the bank had EUR 618,638 thou-
sand of loans insured by means of mortgages in its gross 
loan portfolio.

Impairment allowances by type of receivable / loan

Movements in impairment allowances in 2012:
thousand EUR

Loans to non-banks Loans to banks Other Total

1 January 24,175 0 6 24,181

Share of total loans and advances (%) 2.87 0 0.47  

Formed 12,864 0 40 12,904

Released -8,683 0 -4 -8,687

31 December 28,356 0 42 28,398

Share of total loans and advances (%) 2.95 0 0.86  

Movements in impairment allowances in 2011:
thousand EUR

Loans to non-banks Loans to banks Other Total

1 January 18,134 6,200 6 24,340

Share of total loans and advances (%) 2.16 0.74 0.59  

Formed 10,150 0 160 10,310

Released -4,108 -6,200 -160 -10,468

31 December 24,175 0 6 24,181

Share of total loans and advances (%) 2.87 0 0.47  
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7.4 Other financial assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

 Receivables for fees and commissions 39 37

 Trade receivables 78 50

 Other receivables 4,762 951

Total 4,879 1,038

As at year-end 2012, the largest amount within other 
financial assets were receivables from the settlement 
account related to the securities sold by the bank, which 
amounted to 4,163 thousand EUR.

8. Held-to-maturity debt securities
Structure by currency

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

In EUR 8,071 7,493

 Bonds ÖVAG 3,054 3,082

 Other bonds 5,017 4,411

Total 8,071 7,493

Structure by listed-unlisted
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Listed 8,071 7,493

 Bonds ÖVAG 3,054 3,082

 Other bonds 5,017 4,411

Total 8,071 7,493

As at year-end 2012, the bank did not have held-to-ma-
turity debt securities pledged as collateral.



79SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2012

9.  Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets

Movements in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in 2012
thousand EUR

Land and 
buildings Equipment

Assets under 
construction

Total 
Tangible 

assets
Intangible 

assets

Intangible 
assets in 

preparation

Total 
Intangible 

assets
Grand  

Total

Initial cost

Balance  
1 January 2012 6,795 6,013 21 12,829 1,775 41 1,816 14,644

Additions 0 200 215 415 93 87 180 595

Disposals 0 -41 -201 -242 0 -93 -93 -335

Balance  
31 December 2012 6,795 6,172 35 13,002 1,868 35 1,903 14,905

Accumulated 
Depreciation 0

Balance  
1 January 2012 1,499 3,734 0 5,233 1,389 0 1,389 6,622

Accumulated 
Depreciation 152 521 0 673 172 0 172 845

Sales 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals 0 -41 0 -41 0 0 0 -41

Balance  
31 December 2012 1,651 4,214 0 5,865 1,561 0 1,561 7,426

Carrying amount

31 December 2011 5,296 2,278 21 7,595 386 41 427 8,022

31 December 2012 5,144 1,958 35 7,137 307 35 342 7,479

In 2012, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible 
assets (with a cost of EUR 1,069 thousand). At year-end 
2012, the bank did not have property, plant and equ-
ipment assets pledged as collateral.
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Movements in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in 2011
thousand EUR

Land and 
buildings Equipment

Assets under 
construction

Total 
Tangible 

assets
Intangible 

assets

Intangible 
assets in 

preparation

Total 
Intangible 

assets
Grand  

Total

Initial cost

Balance 1 January 2011 6,783 5,586 134 12,502 1,600 174 1,774 14,276

Additions 13 582 482 1,077 303 170 474 1,550

Disposals 0 -156 -595 -750 -128 -303 -432 -1,182

Balance  
31 December 2011 6,795 6,013 21 12,829 1,775 41 1,816 14,644

Accumulated 
Depreciation

Balance 1 January 2011 1,347 3,349 0 4,696 1,418 0 1,418 6,114
Accumulated 
Depreciation 152 535 0 688 99 0 99 787

Sales 0 6 0 6 0 0 0 6

Disposals 0 -156 0 -156 -128 0 -128 -284

Balance 31 
December 2011 1,499 3,734 0 5,233 1,389 0 1,389 6,622

Carrying amount

31 December 2010 5,436 2,237 134 7,807 182 174 356 8,162

31 December 2011 5,296 2,278 21 7,595 386 41 427 8,022

In 2011, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible 
assets (with a cost of EUR 1,072 thousand). At year-end 
2011, the bank did not have property, plant and equ-
ipment assets pledged as collateral.
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10. Long-term investments in subsidiaries
Long-term investment in Group members as at 31 December 2012

thousand EUR

Investment 
amount

Participation 
percentage

Voting rights 
percentage

Subscribed  
capital

Profit for  
the year

Privatinvest, d.o.o., Ljubljana 1,614 100 100 2,296 -48

Total 1,614

Long-term investment in Group members as at 31 December 2011
thousand EUR

Investment 
amount

Participation 
percentage

Voting rights 
percentage

Subscribed  
capital

Profit for  
the year

Privatinvest, d.o.o., Ljubljana 1,614 100 100 2,296 8

Total 1,614

As at year-end 2012, the subsidiary’s balance sheet total 
was EUR 3,402,011.92 (2011: EUR 1,694,695.15). The main 
activity of Privatinvest is acting as real estate agency / 
intermediary (activity code 70.310).

Due to its insignificance for the financial position of the 
Sberbank banka Group (subsidiary’s balance sheet total 
representing only 0.25% of the bank’s balance sheet 
total), Privatinvest was excluded from consolidation in 
accordance with Article 56 of Companies Act.

Article 7(5) of the “Regulation on the supervision of banks 
on a consolidated basis” allows that a subsidiary is exclu-
ded from consolidation, provided its balance sheet total 
does not exceed 1% of the bank’s balance sheet total or 
EUR 10 million in absolute terms. Sberbank banka d.d. 
informed Banka Slovenije of exclusion of Privatinvest 
from consolidation.

The bank meets the IAS 27 criteria regarding the excep-
tion from consolidation.
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11. Tax assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

TAX ASSETS 879 1,116

Current tax assets 664 150

Deferred tax assets 215 966

Current tax assets represent excess advance payments 
of corporate income tax.

Deferred tax assets arise from non-deductible provi-
sions for employee benefits, and negative valuation of 

available-for-sale securities. Compared to 2011, they 
decreased mainly due to a higher valuation of available-
for-sale securities. When calculating the 2012 deferred 
tax assets, the bank used the tax rate of 17% (2011: 20%).

Movements in deferred taxes in 2012 and 2011
thousand EUR

Opening  
balance

Through  
profit or loss

Through 
comprehensive  

income
Closing  
balance

31 Dec 2012 966 -2 -749 215

31 Dec 2011 280 -3 689 966

Deferred taxes are shown net, as the difference between 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities.

Deferred taxes from security valuation
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Net deferred taxes 160 909

Valuation to fair value -943 -4,547

Revaluation reserve -782 -3,638

Deferred taxes – shown as changes in comprehensive income -749 689
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12. Other assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

 Receivables for advances 0 11

 Inventories of material 52 62

 Receivables for taxes, contributions and other duties 5 3

 Capitalised deferred expenses and accrued income 148 160

Total 205 236

13.  Financial liabilities from derivatives  
(held for trading)

thousand EUR

 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Exchange rate-related derivatives 5 384

Interest rate-related derivatives 2,202 846

Commodity options 9 0

Financial liabilities held for trading 2,216 1,230

14.  Financial liabilities from derivatives  
(hedge accounting)

In 2012, the bank did not have derivatives used for hedge 
accounting.
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15. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

15.1 Deposits from banks

Structure by type, currency and maturity
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Demand deposits 84,301 10,256

 - EUR 82,598 10,205

 - Foreign currencies 1,703 51

Deposits with agreed maturity 113,301 18,763

Short-term 113,301 18,763

 - EUR 109,162 15,047

 - Foreign currencies 4,139 3,716

Long-term 2,627 4,030

 - EUR 2,627 4,030

Total 200,229 33,049
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15.2 Deposits from non-banks

Structure by type, currency and maturity 
thousand EUR

   31 Dec 2012    31 Dec 2011

 EUR
Foreign 

currency Total EUR
Foreign 

currency Total

Demand deposits 187,517 9,279 196,796 163,583 3,096 166,678

 Companies 99,545 2,576 102,121 84,651 470 85,120

 Households 83,418 2,526 85,944 75,753 2,185 77,938

 Non-profitable service providers 1,868 3,644 5,512 457 1 458

 Other financial institutions 395 0 395 82 0 82

 Non-residents 2,292 533 2,824 2,640 440 3,080

Deposits with agreed maturity 392,289 845 393,134 237,582 533 238,115

Short-term deposits 254,047 286 254,333 134,822 349 135,171

 Companies 49,851 37 49,888 35,292 52 35,345

 Households 45,941 248 46,189 20,250 295 20,545

 Public sector 131,856 0 131,856 50,397 0 50,397

 Non-profitable service providers 665 0 665 585 0 585

 Other financial institutions 20,811 0 20,811 27,375 0 27,375

 Non-residents 4,853 1 4,855 923 1 925

Long-term deposits 138,242 559 138,801 102,759 184 102,944

 Companies 9,143 0 9,143 4,329 0 4,329

 Households 61,310 285 61,595 42,060 184 42,244

 Public sector 25,854 0 25,854 24,010 0 24,010

 Non-profitable service providers 63 0 63 60 0 60

 Other financial institutions 39,641 0 39,641 31,289 0 31,289

 Non-residents 2,230 274 2,504 1,012 0 1,012

TOTAL 579,805 10,125 589,930 401,165 3,628 404,793
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15.3 Loans from banks

Structure by type, currency and maturity 
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Total loans from banks 377,148 471,305

Long-term loans from banks 377,148 471,305

 - EUR 257,108 352,018

 - Foreign currencies 120,040 119,286

15.4 Loans from non-banks

In 2012, the bank did not have loans from non-banks.

15.5 Debt instruments

The bank does not have debt instruments in issue mea-
sured at amortised cost. 

15.6 Subordinated liabilities

Structure
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Subordinated liabilities to non-residents in EUR 18,946 28,377

Total 18,946 28,377

The bank paid EUR 822 thousand of interest in 2012 
(2011: EUR 558 thousand) on its subordinated liabilities. 
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15.7. Other financial liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Fees and commissions 12 8

Other liabilities 2,504 2,505

in EUR 2,504 2,089

trade liabilities 932 504

liabilities for salaries 513 452

liabilities for contributions 85 75

liabilities to individuals 92 81

other liabilities 883 977

in foreign currency 0 417

other liabilities in foreign currency 0 417

Accrued expenses and deferred income 272 434

Cross-border payments 773 23

Total 3,561 2,971
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16. Long-term provisions
Structure

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Pending lawsuits 96 59

Employee benefits 521 429

Off-balance sheet liabilities 147 188

Other provisions 5 0

Total 770 677

As at 31 December 2012, the pending lawsuits in which 
the bank acted as defendant amounted to EUR 726 tho-
usand (2011: EUR 603 thousand). Provisions set aside by 

the bank for this purpose were EUR 96 thousand (2011: 
EUR 59 thousand).

Movements

Movements in 2012

thousand EUR

Off-balance  
sheet liabilities

Employee  
benefits Other

Pending  
lawsuits Total

1 January 188 429 0 59 677

Increases 833 105 5 37 980

Decreases -874 -12 0 0 -886

31 December 147 522 5 96 770

Movements in 2011
thousand EUR

Off-balance  
sheet liabilities

Employee  
benefits Other

Pending  
lawsuits Total

1 January 105 364 0 90 560

Increases 499 81 3 0 582

Decreases -416 -16 -3 -31 -465

31 December 188 429 0 59 677
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17. Tax liabilities
As at 31 December 2012, the bank did not have liabilities 
for corporate income tax.

18. Other liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Other taxes payable 122 29

Deferred income 969 0

Total 1,091 29

19. Equity
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Share capital 88,140 43,140

Share premium 27,248 27,248

Revaluation reserve -782 -3,638

Reserves from profit (including retained earnings) 4,063 1,412

Profit or loss from current year 156 2,651

TOTAL EQUITY 118,825 70,813

In July 2012, Sberbank Europe AG, Austria, recapitalised 
the bank by issuing 6,402,878 ordinary registered par-
value shares for a total amount of EUR 26,700,001.26. 
This increased the bank’s subscribed capital to EUR 
69,840,385,99 in August 2012, after registration with the 
Central Securities Clearing Corporation. In October 2012, 
Sberbank Europe AG, Austria, recapitalised the bank 
again, this time by subscribing for 4,388,490 new sha-
res in the total amount of EUR 18,300,003.30 – actually 
by converting subordinated debt to equity. By the end 
of 2012, the bank’s subscribed capital amounted to EUR 
88,140,389.28, of which 99.98% was owned by Sberbank 
Europe AG

Subscribed capital comprised 21,136,784 ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of EUR 4.17.

Capital reserves represent mainly the difference 
between the price paid in and the issue price of the new 
shares. A portion relates to the former general capital 
revaluation adjustment.

Revaluation reserves stood at minus EUR 782 thousand 
as at year-end 2012. They relate to fair value valuation of 
available-for-sale financial assets, recognisable in com-
prehensive income (IAS 39).
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Balance sheet profit for 2012
thousand EUR

Net profit for the financial year 2012, for which the bank is  
going to propose to shareholders to remain unallocated 156

Accumulated profit carried forward from previous years 
shall remain unallocated.

Balance sheet profit for 2011
thousand EUR

Net profit or loss for the year 2,651

Net profit or loss carried forward 1,412

Accumulated profit to be allocated by the general meeting of shareholders: 4,063

    - to be carried forward to the following year 4,063

At year-end 2012, book value of a share calculated based 
on the bank’s total equity was EUR 5.62, down EUR 1.22 
from a year ago.

In 2012, profit per share was EUR 0.01.

EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Profit or loss after tax 155,682 2,651,177

Shares outstanding 21,136,784 10,345,416

Average shares 14,495,942 10,345,416

Basic earnings per share 0.01 0.26

Diluted earnings per share 0.01 0.26
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In accordance with the bank’s Statute, the general 
meeting decides on the usage of accumulated profit at 
the proposal of the Managing and Supervisory Boards. 
While this proposal is not binding for the general mee-
ting, the approved annual report is. Its resolution on 
usage of the accumulated profit must contain the fol-
lowing information:
• the amount of the accumulated profit;
• the amount of profit distributed to shareholders;
• the amount of profit allocated to other reserves from 

profit;
• the amount of profit carried forward to the following 

year; and

• the amount of profit appropriated for other purposes 
provided for in the bank’s Statute.

The resolution on appropriation of the accumulated 
profit does not change the approved annual report. The 
general meeting cannot decide on matters concerning 
the bank’s management, unless if so required by the 
Management Board.

Other reserves from profit were formed in previous 
years from profit and retained earnings for those years, 
and cannot be distributed to shareholders. They rema-
ined unchanged at EUR 6 thousand in 2012.

20. Treasury shares
The bank has not bought back any of its shares, and does 
not have reserves for such transactions.
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21. Off-balance sheet items
 thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

-  Contigencies arising from pledged collateral, acceptance and other contingencies  
and commitments (including pledged assets for client’s liabilities) 30,749 18,000

-  Extended loans and advances, overdrafts, credit lines carried on assets  
side and other off-balance 74,111 51,430

- Notional amounts of spot transactions 1,086 800

- Notional amounts of derivatives 49,592 70,043

Total risky items 155,539 140,273

- Other off-balance sheet items 120,000 261,132

- Guarantees Received 2,280,271 2,218,996

-  Bank’s financial assets pledged for the bank’s liabilities and financial  
assets in pooling of underlying assets at Banka Slovenije 61,645 66,086

Total risk-free items 2,461,916 2,546,214

Total off-balance sheet items 2,617,455 2,686,488

As at year-end 2012, the bank had off-balance sheet 
items involving some risk of EUR 155,539 thousand, and 
off-balance sheet items involving no risk of EUR 2,461,916 
thousand.

Future lease payments – bank as lessee under operating lease contracts:
thousand EUR

  2012 2011

Up to one year 708 554

From one to five years 2,695 2,163

More than five years 5,939 5,363

Total future lease payments 9,342 8,079
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22. Net interest and similar income and expenses
thousand EUR

2012 2011

Net interest income 18,421 20,363

Income 40,084 39,499

Deposits at central bank 86 151

Financial assets held for trading 387 143

Derivatives (hedge accounting) 0 0

Available-for-sale financial assets 3,538 2,121

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) 35,715 36,972

Held-to-maturity financial assets 357 110

Other financial assets 0 0

Expenses -21,662 -19,135

Financial liabilities to Central bank -182  

Financial liabilities held for trading -433 -213

Derivatives (hedge accounting) 0 0

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -21,048 -18,923

By type
thousand EUR

     2012       2011

Income Expenses Income Expenses

Regular 36,932 21,662 36,911 19,135

Default 1,530 0 1,101 0

Accrued fees similar to interest 1,622 0 1,487 0

Total 40,084 21,662 39,499 19,135
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23. Dividend income 
The bank received EUR 6 thousand from dividends in 
2012 (2011: -).

24. Net fee and commission income
 thousand EUR

2012 2011

INCOME 3,548 3,165

From issuing guarantees 5 1

From domestic payments 893 795

From international payments 350 323

From intermediary and commission deals 193 297

From securities business 0 2

From credit operations 122 93

For providing administrative services 1,983 1,653

EXPENSES 719 1,025

Domestic banking services 130 128

Foreign banking services 548 821

Agency and fiduciary business 7 45

Brokerage and other securities transactions 3 1

Payment transactions 29 30

Other services 3 0

NET FEES AND COMISSIONS 2,828 2,140
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25.  Realised gains/losses from financial assets/
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss

thousand EUR

  2012   2011

Net realised gains/losses 1,200 746

Realised gains 1,306 760

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,294 726

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) 13 34

Realised losses -106 -14

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) 0 0

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -106 -6

Other financial assets and liabilities -0 -8

In 2012, realised gains from available-for-sale finan-
cial assets were the highest. They arose on disposal of 
bonds issued by the governments of Slovenia, Germany 
and Austria, and by the Slovakian bank Volksbank 
Slovensko, a.s.

26.  Net gains/losses from financial assets/liabilities 
held for trading 

thousand EUR

2012 2011

Net gains/losses 265 1,216

 Trading in shares and interests 0 0

 Trading in debt securities and loans 0 2

 Trading in foreign exchange and precious metals 417 226

 Companies 355 175

 Households 62 51

  Derivatives -153 988

 Forwards 497 -404

 Swaps -733 1,325

 Options 83 67
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27. Foreign exchange gains/losses 
thousand EUR

2012 2011

Net gains/losses 92 -1,133

 Foreign exchange gains 5,517 35,905

 Foreign exchange losses -5,425 -37,038

28.  Gains/losses on derecognition of assets other 
than held for sale

thousand EUR

2012 2011

Net gains/losses 0 -235

 Gains 0 13

 Losses 0 -248

29. Other net operating income 
thousand EUR

2012 2011

Other net operating income 88 -7

Income 183 150

 Income for non-banking services 47 41

 Other operating income 136 109

Expenses -96 -157

 Membership fees -43 -57

 Other operating expenses -53 -100
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30. Administrative expenses
thousand EUR

2012 2011

Labour costs

  - gross salaries 6,111 5,914

  - social security contributions 389 364

  - pension insurance contributions 517 484

  - other payroll duties 57 51

  - other labour costs 886 803

     - of which provisions for retirement and  anniversary bonuses 105 81

Total 7,961 7,616

Costs of material and services   

 Material 135 113

 Rentals 482 495

 Services 1,695 1,580

  Consulting and auditing 305 281

  Security 221 168

  Legal 64 48

  Provided by Sberbank Europe and ÖVAG 781 854

  Postage, telecommunication and data transfer 325 228

 Advertising 429 523

 Entertainment 63 49

 Seminars and school fees 91 98

 Maintenance 785 684

 Other 1,804 1,699

Total 5,484 5,240

Total administrative expenses 13,444 12,855
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31. Amortisation and depreciation
thousand EUR

2012 2011

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 845 787

Amortisation of intangible assets 673 688

Total amortisation/depreciation charge 172 99

As in 2011, the bank used the linear amortisation/depre-
ciation method.
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32. Impairment and provisions
Impairment and provisions in 2012

thousand EUR

Recognition of  
impairment and provisions 

Derecognition of  
impairment provisions Total

Loans -12,352 4,097 -8,255

Interest -347 292 -55

Other -154 65 -89

Impairment -12,853 4,453 -8,400

Provisions for off-balance items -833 874 41

Provisions for pending lawsuits -37 0 -37

Other provisions -5 0 -5

Provisions -875 874 0

Total impairment and provisions -13,728 5,328 -8,400

In accordance with the accounting policies of Sberbank 
Europe AG, the bank is showing provisions for retire-
ment and anniversary bonuses under labour costs.

Impairment and provisions in 2011
thousand EUR

Recognition of  
impairment and provisions 

Derecognition of  
impairment provisions Total 

Loans -9,602 3,842 -5,760

Interest -285 196 -88

Other -275 78 -197

Impairment -10,161 4,116 -6,045

Provisions for off-balance items -498 416 -83

Provisions for pending lawsuits 0 0 0

Other provisions 0 0 0

Provisions -498 416 -83

Total impairment and provisions -10,660 4,532 -6,128
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33. Net profit or loss for the current year
In 2012, the bank earned a net profit from continuing 
operations of EUR 211 thousand. The tax calculated by 
the bank was minus EUR 55 thousand, and net profit for 
2012 was EUR 156 thousand.

34. Analysis of income and expense by markets
thousand EUR

2012 2011

Total income (gross) 58,706 86,600

Income earned in foreign markets 9,877 27,155

Share of income earned in foreign markets 16.82 % 31.36 %

 

Total expenses (gross) 35,806 63,510

Expenses incurred in foreign markets 15,109 33,276

Share of expenses incurred in foreign markets 42.20 % 52.40 %

The majority of income earned and expenses incurred in 
foreign markets arose from transactions with VBAG and 
Sberbank Europe AG. 

35. Auditing expenses
In accordance with a contract to audit the 2012 annual 
report, the bank paid Ernst & Young d.o.o. the amount of 
EUR 53,900 plus VAT.

In accordance with several contracts related to the 
reporting package audit, the bank paid Ernst & Young 
EUR 36,000 + VAT for the first three quarters of 2012.

The total amount spent on auditing in 2012 amounted 
to EUR 89,900 + VAT.

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2011 finan-
cial statements and annual report, the bank paid KPMG 
Slovenija EUR 45,900 + VAT.

The Group Österreichische Volksbanken AG decided to 
sell its subsidiaries established outside Austria. For this 
purpose, it was agreed with the buyer that a joint audit 
should be performed of the subsidiaries’ financial sta-
tements as at 30 September 2011. The costs of the joint 
audit (KPMG + Ernst & Young) amounted to EUR 70,000 
plus VAT. A joint audit should have been performed also 
as at 31 December 2011, but was then cancelled by the 
seller and the buyer. The related costs were EUR 8,750 
plus VAT.

The total amount spent on auditing in 2011 amounted 
to EUR 124,650 plus VAT.
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36. Effective tax rate
thousand EUR

2012 2011

Profit or loss from ordinary activities 211 3,320

Calculated tax liability at the statutory tax rate of 18% (2011: 20%) -38 -664

Difference to the actual tax liability -17 -5

Additions to tax base (non-deductible entertainment  
expenses, donations, employee benefits) -38 -40

Tax incentives (capital investments, research & development) 29 37

Effect of tax rate changes in deferred taxes -9 -2

Income tax in the income statement -55 -669

Effective tax rate 26.20% 20.15%

37. Number of employees
In 2012, the bank had 208 employees on average. As at 
year-end 2012, it had 218 employees. Of these, 10 had 
post-graduate education, 89 had university educa-
tion, 23 had higher education, and 96 had secondary 
education.

38. Organisational units abroad
The bank does not have organisational units abroad.
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39. Fiduciary transactions
 thousand EUR

31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2011

Fiduciary transactions 77,640 24,950

  Syndicated loans 77,640 24,950 

  Agency transactions                 0                 0

Agency transactions

(transactions with clients)

The bank did not have assets or liabilities arising from 
agency transactions as at 31 December 2012 and as 31 
December 2011.

Net fees and commission from investment services and transactions 
thousand EUR

        2012           2011

Fee and commission income from (ancillary) investment services for clients 0 3

Acceptance, transmission and execution of orders 0 3

Fee and commission expenses from (ancillary) investment services for clients             0             0
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40.  Documents on participation rights, convertible 
bonds

The bank does not have documents relating to partici-
pation rights or convertible bonds.

41. Assets pledged as collateral
As at year-end 2012, the bank had EUR 53,542,222.90 
of first-class securities placed with Banka Slovenije to 
secure payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s 
secondary liquidity. As at year-end 2012, the bank 
had EUR 2.5 million pledged to secure SEPA payment 
transactions.

As at year-end 2011, the bank had EUR 58,546,447.02 
of first-class securities placed with Banka Slovenije to 
secure payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s 
secondary liquidity.

42. Subordinated instruments
The bank does not have investments in others’ subordi-
nated instruments.
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43. Related parties 
thousand EUR

Statement of financial position  
as at 31 December 2012

Management 
Board  

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family members 
of Management board 
and key management 

personnel**
Sberbank  
of Russia

Other  
related  
parties

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0 105 4

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 40,004

Loans and receivables to banks 0 0 0 35,032 23,828

Loans and receivables to  
non-bank customer 58 777 233 0 1,759

Held-to-maturity investments 0 0 0 0 0

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 1,614

Other assets 0 0 0 0 67

Total assets 58 777 233 35,137 67,276

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 1 1,858

Deposits from banks 0 0 0 90,059 86,188

Deposits from non-banks 25 117 239 0 28

Loans and advances from banks 0 0 0 237,693 0

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

Other Liabilities 0 0 0 0 594

Total liabilities 25 117 239 327,753 88,668
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 thousand EUR

Statement of financial position  
as at 31 December 2011

Management 
Board  

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family members 
of Management board 
and key management 

personnel**
Parent  

bank
Other  

related parties

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0 170 0

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 0

Loans and receivables to banks 0 0 0 7,452 5,041

Loans and receivables to  
non-bank customer 63 842 259 0 7,739

Held-to-maturity investments 0 0 0 3,082 0

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 1,614

Other assets 0 0 0 0 46

Total assets 63 842 259 10,704 14,440

Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 699 0

Deposits from banks 0 0 0 129,465 5,250

Deposits from non-banks 12 105 210 0 2,083

Loans and advances from banks 0 0 0 220,989 15,675

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 18,302 0

Other Liabilities 0 0 0 93 49

Total liabilities 12 105 210 369,548 23,057

* Key managers: procurators, directors.
** Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

The column “Parent bank” includes the bank’s previous direct 
owner (Volksbank International AG) and its majority owner 
(ÖVAG Group), which fully consolidated Sberbank banka d.d. 
(previously Banka Volksbank d.d.) at that time.
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thousand EUR

Income statement for the period  
from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2012

Management 
Board  

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family members 
of Management board 
and key management 

personnel**
Sberbank  
of Russia

Other  
related  
parties

Net interest income 0 19 3 -2,792 -739

Net fee and commission income 0 1 1 -332 -89

Gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 -1,033 -1,751

Gains and losses on available-for-sale 
financial assets and liabilities 0 0 0 0 199

Other operating income 0 3 0 0 27

Administration costs -8 -11 0 0 -870

Release of credit risk provisions 0 0 0 0 5

Total -8 12 4 -4,157 -3,218

* Key managers: procurators, directors.
** Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Terms and exposures of Management Board members and Key management personnel  
as at 31 December 2012

thousand EUR

2012 Maturity Currency
Interest 

rate
Type of 

interest rate collaterals
Loan 

exposure
Repayment 

in year 

Management 
Board members long-term EUR 0.180 variable mortgage, pledge of insurance 51 10

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 4.084 fixed

mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, insurance 

company,  cash deposit
68 11

Key management 
personnel  
(contracted 
before 1.1.2005)

long-term EUR 0.620 variable mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
insurance company 31 5

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 1.996 variable

mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, insurance 

company
476 73

Key management 
personnel long-term CHF 1.250 variable

mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, insurance 

company, securities
189 14

Total      815 113
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Terms and exposures of Management Board members and Key management personnel  
as at 31 December 2011

thousand EUR

2011 Maturity Currency
Interest 

rate
Type of 

interest rate collaterals
Loan 

exposure
Repayment 

in year 
Management 
Board members long-term EUR 1.842 variable mortgage, pledge of insurance 60 35

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 4.116 fixed

mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, insurance 

company,  cash deposit
76 12

Key management 
personnel  
(contracted 
before 1.1.2005)

long-term EUR 1.795 variable mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
insurance company 36 5

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 3.479 variable

mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, insurance 

company
524 50

Key management 
personnel long-term CHF 1.320 variable

mortgage, pledge of insurance, 
personal securities, insurance 

company, securities
200 12

Total      896 114

Key management personnel include procurators and 
directors.

The bank does not have internal owners and therefore 
does not disclose their receipts. 

The terms applicable to the transactions with members 
of the Managing and Supervisory Boards and employees 
with individual employment contracts are the same as 
those applicable to other bank employees and their 
family members, i.e. the same as those laid down in the 
bank’s official tariff.
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Receipts of Managing and Supervisory Board members in 2012
                     thousand EUR   

Gašpar 
Ogris-Martič

Aleš 
Zajc

Johann 
Staudigl

Sergey 
Ludentsov

Supervisory 
Board members

Fixed receipts (salary) 167 174 146 53 0

Variable receipts (bonus) 18 27 15 0 0

Profit sharing 0 0 0 0 0

Options and other rewards 0 0 0 0 0

Insurance and additional pension insurance 20 8 15 0 0

Costs reimbursment1 17 2 13 6 0

Provisions and other additional receipts (fringe benefits) 9 7 8 9 0

 Total 231 218 197 68

Receipts of Managing and Supervisory Board members in 2011
thousand EUR

Gašpar 
Ogris-Martič

Aleš 
Zajc

Johann 
Staudigl

Supervisory 
Board members

Fixed receipts (salary) 167 175 147 0

Variable receipts (bonus) 62 63 50 0

Profit sharing 0 0 0 0

Options and other rewards 0 0 0 0

Insurance and additional pension insurance 20 9 14 0

Costs reimbursment1) 19 2 13 0

Provisions and other additional receipts (fringe benefits) 7 0 7 0

Total 276 248 231 0

1 meals at work, internet, accommodation

Receipts of employees with individual employment contracts in 2012
thousand EUR

Employees with individual employment contracts

Gross receipts 808

Profit sharing 0

Total 808

As at year-end 2012, the bank had four members of the 
Management Board, six members of the Supervisory 
Board, and 13 employees with individual employment 
contracts. The bank also had six procurators.
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44. Notes to the cash flow statement
The bank prepared the cash flow statement in accor-
dance with the indirect method using the income state-
ment and balance sheet data. Within cash equivalents, it 
included all financial assets with an original maturity of 
up to three months. Under IAS 7, these are short-term, 
highly liquid assets that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 
change in value. Any differences between the data from 
two consecutive balance sheets and the data from the 
income statement for the period between them were 
corrected to ensure that inflows were as close as possi-
ble to receipts and outflows to expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2010
 thousand EUR

1. Cash and balances with central bank 20,643

2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 30,703

 Transaction accounts abroad 14,738

 Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 1,536

 Overnight deposits abroad 0

 Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 14,429

TOTAL 51,346

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2011
 thousand EUR

1. Cash and balances with central bank 79,860

2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 14,028

 Transaction accounts abroad 1,132

 Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 7,896

 Overnight deposits abroad 0

 Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 0

 Other short-term investments in foreign banks 5,000

TOTAL 93,888
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Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2012
 thousand EUR

1. Cash and balances with central bank 166,331

2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 63,182

 Transaction accounts abroad 1,547

 Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 4,152

 Overnight deposits abroad 0

 Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 2,483

 Other short-term investments in foreign banks                         55,000

TOTAL 229,513

Interest and dividends received and paid in 2012 and in 2011
 thousand EUR

  2012 2011

Interest received 37,664 36,560

Interest paid 18,281 17,098

Dividends received     6 0

Dividends paid     0 0

45. Post-balance sheet events
On 28 January 2013, Banka Volksbank d.d. officially 
became Sberbank banka d.d. and began operating under 
the Sberbank brand, which had no impact on its financial 
statements, profit or loss and disclosures in the report, 
except for the change in the name of the bank.
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HEADQUARTERS

Sberbank banka d.d.
Dunajska 128a
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia
T +386 (0)1 53 07 400
F +386 (0)1 53 07 555
info@sberbank.si
www.sberbank.si

BRANCHES

Ljubljana

Dunajska cesta 128 a
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 53 07 672
F +386 (1) 53 07 560

Pavšičeva 4
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 50 00 790
F +386 (1) 50 00 796

Cesta na Brdo 69
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 24 12 042
F +386 (1) 24 12 047

Miklošičeva 30
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 23 49 390
F +386 (1) 23 49 392

Gosposka ulica 1
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 24 10 172
F +386 (1) 24 10 192

Kranj

Na skali 6
SI-4000 Kranj
T +386 (4) 20 13 880
F +386 (4) 20 13 888

Maribor

Poslovna zgradba City Jug
Ul. Heroja Bračiča 6
SI-2000 Maribor
F +386 (2) 23 80 34
T +386 (2) 23 80 345

Šentjur

Mestni trg 2
SI-3230 Šentjur pri Celju
T +386 (3) 74 71 840
F +386 (3) 74 71 842

Koper

Pristaniška 43 a
SI-6000 Koper
T +386 (5) 66 34 866
F +386 (5) 66 34 872

Celje

Prešernova 27
SI-3000 Celje
T +386 (3) 42 87 808
F +386 (3) 42 87 818

Šentjernej

Levičnikova cesta 2
SI-8310 Šentjernej
T +386 (7) 39 42 680
F +386 (7) 39 42 683

Tepanje

Poslovni center Tepanje
SI-3210 Slovenske Konjice
T +386 (3) 75 80 850
F +386 (3) 75 80 852

Our network
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Sberbank Europe AG 

Austria

Sberbank Europe AG
Renngasse 10
1010 Vienna, Austria
T +43 (0) 1227320
office@sberbank.at
www.sberbank.at

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Sberbank BH d.d. Sarajevo
Fra Andela Zvizdovica 1
71000 Sarajevo 
Bosnia-Herzegovina
T +387 (0)33 29 56 01
F +387 (0)33 26 38 32
info@sberbank.ba
www.sberbank.ba 

Sberbank a.d. Banja Luka
Jevrejska 71
78 000 Banja Luka 
Bosnia-Herzegovina
T +387 (0)51 241 100
F +387 (0)51 213 391
info@sberbankbl.ba
www.sberbankbl.ba

Czech Republic

Sberbank CZ, a.s.
Na Pankráci 1724/129
140 00 Praha 4, Czech Republic
T +42 (0)221 969 911
F +42 (0)221 969 951
mail@sberbankcz.cz
www.sberbankcz.cz

Serbia

Sberbank Srbija a.d. Beograd
Bulevar Mihaila Pupina 165g
11070 Belgrade, Serbia
T +381 (0)11 201 69 69
F +381 (0)11 201 32 70
info@sberbank.rs
www.sberbank.rs

Slovenia

Sberbank banka d.d.
Dunajska 128a 
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia
T +386 (0)1 53 07 400
F +386 (0)1 53 07 555
info@sberbank.si
www.sberbank.si

Hungary 

Magyarorszagi Volksbank Zrt.
Rákóczi út 7
1088 Budapest, Hungary
T +36 (0)1 328 66 66
F +36 (0)1 328 66 60
volksbank@volksbank.hu
www.volksbank.hu

Croatia

Sberbank d.d.
Varšavska 9
10000 Zagreb, Croatia
T +385 (0)1 4801 300
F +385 (0)1 4801 365
info@sberbank.hr
www.sberbank.hr

Slovakia 

Sberbank Slovensko, a.s.
Vysoká 9, P.O. Box 81
81000 Bratislava, Slovakia
T +421 (0)2 5965 1111
F +421 (0)2 5441 2453
market@sberbank.sk
www.sberbank.sk

Ukraine

PJSC Volksbank
Hrabovskoho str. 11
79000 Lviv, Ukraine
T +380 (0)32 297 13 82
F +380 (0)32 297 05 83
contact@volksbank.ua
www.volksbank.ua 
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